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PREFACE 

The circumstances which led to the foundation of Baldoon 
and the manner in which it evolved into the Town of Wallaceburg, 
as for many other settlements in Canada, is a story in itself; a story 
which contains qualities of foresight, determination and personal 
courage in the face of grave adversity. 

This may have been the first planned settlement in the rich 
lands of the Western District of Upper Canada. The scheme to re· 
settle displaced Highlanders from the poor areas of Northern Scot· 
land in what is sometimes called the Garden of Canada was basically 
sound. 

Thomas Douglas, fifth Earl of Selkirk, who conceived this 
plan had spent much time studying the development of land for 
farming. He had an original turn of mind which did not bend to the 
conventional wisdom of the time particularly related to such sub· 
jects as Emigration, Defence and Economics. 

Considering the limited communications at the end of the 
18th Century, it was no mean achievement to select from so vast a 
region what are now three of the richest farming areas in Canada. 
Prince Edward Island met with fairly early success but formidable 
problems, difficult to anticipate, were to emerge at Baldoon and the 
Red River. 

At his death Selkirk must surely have thought that much of 
his life's effort had been in vain. 

Mr. MacKenzie has done a great service in gathering and pre· 
senting to us the events which took place on the banks of the Syd· 
enham River. 

London, Eng., 1977. 



INTRODUCTION 

The defeat of the Jacobite supporters in Scotland at the 
battle of Culloden, brought about the disintegration of the tradition· 
al clan system. Prior to the Forty-Five rebellion, the importance of a 
chieftain was measured by the number of f1ghting men at his com· 
mand. 1 With the loss of the chieftains' power at Culloden the prim­
ary function of the clansmen as fight1ng men ceased. Their value to 
the head of the clan became secondary to the revenue he could ob· 
tam from leasing the land. In addition, as the chief tams turned to 
large scale sheep farming, the power of the land to support people 
declined. Unfortunately, "once the chiefs lost their powers~ many 
of them lost also any parental interest in their clansmen." The 
Highland Clearances began. 

During a tour of the Highlands in 1792, Thomas Douglas 
concluded that emigration was the solution to the economic and soc­
ial upheaval ensuing from the Highland Clearances. A government 
policy to support emigration could achieve two h ighly favourable 
results: the opportunity for a new start in life for those whose fut­
ure held nothing but continued poverty, and the strengthening of 
the British Empire by the settlement of these people in the colon-
ies. 

The advanced colonial vision of Thomas Douglas, who be· 
came fifth Earl of Selkirk in 1799, was not shared by the government 
at Westminster, preoccupied with the more pressing needs of contin· 
ental war. However, after years of patient persuasion and negotiation, 
Selkirk obtained official approval to translate his vision into prac· 
tical schemes. Three experiments in colonization in Canada followed, 
the first on Prince Edward Island, to be followed by the settlement 
of Baldoon in Upper Canada and, finally, by the Red River settle­
ment in the Canadian Northwest. 

On Selkirk's death at the town of Pau, France, in 1820, the 
future of the Red River colony was still in doubt, and the exper­
iment at Baldoon, in his view, a failure, with only the colony of 
Prince Edward Island having brought him satisfaction.3 

Canadian history remembers Selkirk as the founder of the 
ultimately-successful colony at Red River in what is now the prov· 
ince of Manitoba. His venture at Baldoon has been viewed as a 
failure, a judgement unaltered by history. While the experiment in 
settlement was undoubtedly a failure in terms of Selkirk's plans and 
the settlers' hopes, it may be measured by another yardstick - that 
of_ the ultimate success of the settlers in overcoming personal hard· 
sh1p and contributing to the development of one of the richest agri­
cultural areas of eastern North America. 

-~--



The PaSSMger Ves.l Oughton, circa 1768. 
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CHAPTER I 

SCOTTISH BACKGROUND 

The eighteenth century, as historians keep reminding us, was 
a coarse and violent age. It was an age of disease and dirt as well as 
the Age of Elegance. In a society whose popular amusements could 
cheerfully include bear-baiting, cheap gin and public rioting, there 
was little clamour for improvement of the social conditions whose 
existence gave rise to these short-cuts to oblivion. The rich man in 
his manor and the poor man in his hovel were well-separated by a 
gulf which was not merely social and economic, but was a part of 
the natural order of things, sanctioned by folk-memory and formal 
religion, and scarcely challenged by history or conscience. 

The condition of society was a f1eld for rehg1ous reformers, 
with exhortations to moral reform m th1s l1fe and spiritual compen­
sation in the next. The camp meetings of a Wesley or a Whitefield 
could work miracles in the transformatiOn of human behaviour, 
but did little for the material conditions of life. The time was not 
yet ready for the practical reforms of a Shaftesbury, Wakefield, or 
Gladstone. 

In the second half of the eighteenth century, men who could 
combine moral vision with practical sense were few. The notion that 
the God-ordained condition of life could be altered by the hands of 
men was impractical, if not heretical. Secular conditions could be 
seen as part of Divine judgement: squalor, hunger and disease were 
the immutable attributes of human society. That some escaped was 
evidence of their own good favour in the eyes of the Deity. 

Those few men who challenged the notion of society's 
immutability were part of a movement which saw reform of society 
as a moral duty as well as a political necessity. Revolutions across 
the Atlantic and across the Channel showed men of conscience in 
Britain that reform too long delayed could make its demands not 
only irresistable but uncontrollable. Necessity and conscience 
pressed upon the character of those who prided themselves on their 
enlightenment. Those same impulses which stirred Shaftesbury and 
the great reformers of the nineteenth century moved also in the re­
formers of the eighteenth. The nineteenth century was the great age 
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of social reform, but much pioneering work in both theory lnd 
practice had to be done before the goals and necessit1es of reform 
could be defined. It was to men such as Selk1rk and to his conttm· 
poraries of the Scottish Enlightenment that the tide of mneteenlh 
century reform owed its source and its direction. Conscience, mor1l 
indignation and practical vision were the attnbutes and the weapons 
of the new social pioneers in their efforts to rid their society of its 
callousness and its toleration ot the intolerable. 



5 

Selkirk, of course, shared the moral concerns of the ref~rm· 
ers of his age. Unlike most of his contemporaries, he had the fman· 
cial resources and the dnve to carry him beyond stmple concern for 
the unfortunate. He could do more than express concern: he could 
engage in the practical alleviation of poverty ~roultl planned and 
ass1sted emigration. The beneficiaries of his philanthropy would be 
the residents of the Highlands and Islands where he had seen pov· 
erty at its starkest. 

Thomas Douglas, fifth Earl of Selkirk, Baron Daer and 
Shortcleugh, was born at St. Mary 's Isle, Kirkcudbnghtshire, Scot· 
land, in 1771. In many respects the Douglas family was a proto­
type of the political family of later ages. Closely knit, mterested in 
each others' progress, and with a patriarch setting the pace for the 
sons' achievement, it is not surprising that the sons reflected the 
polit1cal views of the father. Dunbar-Hamilton (Douglas) 4th Earl 
of Selkirk gained local notortety as a reformer. He stood firmly in 
the camp of the Whigs and was one of the leaders of the resistance 
to the King's List and a strong supporter of Parliamentary reform. 1 

His poSition was consistent w1th the tntellectual climate of his time, 
for reform of soc1al cond1t1ons as well as of parliament, was the 
creed of men of advanced vutws in Britain towards the end of the 
century. To people with perception and sensitivity the social con­
ditions created by populatiOn pressures and the accelerating rev­
olutions in agriculture and mdustry could no longer continue accord­
ing to the conventions and structures appropriate to an early age. 

Bas1l Douglas, the 4th Earl's heir-apparent and a res1dent of 
Edinburgh, became involved in "The Friends of the People", a 
reform society patterned after similarly named soc1eties elsewhere in 
Britain. Although the upper middle class membership of these soc­
ieties tended to decline with each advance of radical ideas, Basil con· 
t1nued h1s association unt1l his early death in 1794. Thomas also 
shared his father's polit1cal views and, durtng a trtp through the 
Highlands in 1792, wrote to him With great enthusiasm that "he had 
the honour of watching a parade in Dundee to burn Mr. Dundas in 
effigy for opposing the reform of the Scottish boroughs:·2 Although 
he eventually became disenchanted with liberal1sm as a poltt1cal 
force,

3 
as a member of a family which had expressed great sympathy 

fo~ .the American Colon1sts in their struggle for liberty, he not sur­
pns~ngly supported the cause to force "the acceptance of Scotland's 
demands for Parliamentary reform. ,..4 

The Church, the Military, or the Law, during the eighteenth 
century, were the socially acceptable c;uee. s open to sons of the 
ar~stocracy and the Douglas family proved no exception since 
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several of the boys elected careers in the military and the younges~ 
Thomas, a career in Law. He entered the Univers1ty of Edinburjut 
the age of 15 (not an unusual age for the time) when Scottish Un 
versities were among the f1nest in all of Europe, and when many of 
the finest minds of the Enli{tltenment were connected w1th then: 

On the face of it, there was little prospect that the poor Wid 
barren little country on the windswept fringes of Europe would tw 
ticipate in the intellectual movement known to history as the En­
lightenment. Yet Scotland was a receptive host to the notion thai 
the mind had a part to play in the direction of human aff••rs: 1ht 
country's system of education and the democratic, argumentatM 
nature of its established religion provided a fertile mental climatt 
as a counterpoint to the meanness of its resources. They also gac 
the Scottish Enli{tltenment its peculiar moral and didactic tone 
its chief figures were teachers as well as philosophers -and teacher\, 
moreover, whose curiosity ranged beyond formal intellectual cl• 
ificat1ons. It could be recognized that knowledge had 1ts d1vlsiom 
but the philosopher·teachers of late eighteenth-century Scotland 
were not mhibited by them. Their intellectual concerns were broil~ 
but they had a common character m their slant towards moral prob­
lems and, by extension, to their effect on society. Moral philosopher! 
could be at the same time historians - like David Hume and W•lli~ 
Robertson; sociologists - like Adam Ferguson and John Mill11 
or economists - like Adam Smith and Hume. Intellectual effort 
therefore, was directed towards application in society, rather thlll 
abstraction and formulation for the.r own sakes. As a modern hiS­
torian puts it: "A compulsive Involvement in the world and a com­
pulsive curiosity about the soc1al sc1ences were perhaps, in the end. 
the very best thing that the Scottish philosophers gave to 1ht 
world."5 

At Edinburgh, Selkirk came under the influence of Dugald 
Stewart, a moral philosopher who in an age of great teacherS was 
without equal. An intense "common sense" philosopher, he e~ 
aged debate and discussion during his lectures. He was to exert 111 

indelible influence over a whole generation of young Scottish inti!· 
lectuals.6 

In the tradition of great European universities, the student! 
were expected to learn from their peers as well as from their lectures 
Selkirk, with his classmates Walter Scott and Franc1s Jeffery, 1 

founding member and editor of the EdinburgllJ!~viewJ and wveral 
others formed a society called "The Club" wn1cn met 1n Cll'rutlbln 
Close off the High Street. 7 Learned discussion flowed aroun.d ~ 
table, followed by more conv1vial conversation at a nearby 1nn. 



Carrubbers C/0$/11 off the High Street, Edinburgh. 
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one historian put it: "The regeneratiOn of the world and of society 
was the natural aim of these high-born youths in their irrepressible 
stage".s 

Thomas left university after two years of legal studies, llld 
although he did not stay long enough to graduate, these years were 
to have a significant influence. The practical, common sense phil· 
osophy of Stewart, and the opportunity to meet and discuss ideas 
with first-class minds like Scott and Jeffery, served to broaden 
Selkirk's intellectual horizon. In some respects these years rein­
forced that sense of duty and concern which came naturally to many 
18th century aristocratic families. This " noblesse oblige" concern 
often found expression in acts of charity or in pious declarations. 
Although Selkirk may be accused of paternalism, there is little doubt 
that in his later travels through the Highlands his concern for the 
plight of the crofters was indeed genuine. He saw H i!IJiand pOYerty 
not only with the artist's eye but with the mind of a moral phil· 
osopher and the calculation of an economist. Poverty was a phen· 
omenon whose dimensions and solutions could be calculated as 1 

problem in natural philosophy and whose continuance was an affront 
to the mind of a moral philosopher. The dimensions of the problem 
were clear to him, and he saw that the only sensible solution to the 
existing poverty lay in emigration . Not content merely to analyze, 
he would apply his ideas in a practical way, and throu!tl his 
various emigration projects attempt to provide much needed assist· 
ance to those whose future was otherwise bleak. 

Selkirk was by nature sensitive, reserved and timid, facts of 
which he was not unaware and which he wished to change. "I am", 
he wrote, "in company without making one of the comjany. Can I. 
hope that time will cure me of this ridiculous timidity". His sens1t· 
ivity inhibited by shyness, Selkirk appeared cold. But he was not a 
man to be deterred by his timidity for once possessed of an idea, he 
carried it through to its conclusion. Of Selkirk, Scott wrote in 1819, 
"I never knew in my life of a man of more generous and disinterested 
disposition, or one whose talents and perseverance were better Qual· 
ified to bring great and national schemes to conclusion."10 

Summers meant for Selkirk a return to St. Mary's Isle and 
the intense fascination of excursions into the surrounding country· 
side. Unlike most travellers, he did not simply pass through an area. 
but like the landscape artist, he experienced it. He made notes on 
everything that interested him and his interests ranged from the 
sketching of old castles to the making of detailed notes on the geo· 
logical structure of the land. 11 An innocent-looking farm soon lit­
came a thick notebook of the farm's operation: crops, costs, sizt 
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of buildings, soil and proper land use. Through _the purch~se ?' a 
small farm from his father, Thomas put his theones on farmmg mto 
practice. It was not long before the farm became "the wo~er ~f ~he 
countryside and the local inhabitants took great pleasure m pomtmg 
out a field that young Tom Douglas had broken to the plou!ll. 

· I . h. If " 12 
dnving the c umsy anstrument 1mse . 

Practical methods, applied to theoretical calculation, gave 
him a considerable degree of expertise in farming and farming 
methods. The diary which Selkirk kept in the years 1803·04 during 
his travels in North America, is an excellent testimony to his expert 
knowledge of the many facets of agriculture. Wherever he visited, he 
made notes on the raising of crops, the price of grain, the quality 
of the soil and, 1ndeed, any economic activity: ship-building, lumber· 
ing, distilling, all received extens1ve comment in the d iary .

13 
As 

Patrick White points out in his introduction "to lord Selkirk's Diary, 
"The result in one sense is the production of a diary which could 
serve as a handbook on colonisation." 14 

In 1792, Selkirk made an extensive tour throu!ll the Hi!ll· 
lands of Scotland with a Mr. Gilmour, for he was, "strongly excited 
by the representations he had heard of the ancient state of society" 
and of "the striking peculiarity of manners still remaining" among 
the Highlanders. 15 Notebook always at hand, he gathered extensive 
information about living conditions, and from this material he wrote 
his Observations on the Present State of the Highlands of Scotland 
with a V1ew of the Causes and Probable Consequences of Emigration. 
!_h!_ Edin~rgh Review of October 1805 wrote: ---

It is a book which will by no means perish with the local pre· 
judices which it was designed to remow. It has other claims to a 
permanent repuuuion and utility . Not only will it preserve a bet· 
ter picture, than has been drawn by any oth&r hand, of a peculiar 
state of society and manners, highly interesting to historians · but 
it forms 1 lar111 contribution to the theory of political eeon~m{. 
of most setisfectory deductions end ~~tneral conclusions. 6 

and further: 

A~ having cast light on one of the most intricate parts of the 
scoence of Economy, that in which the theory of ~alth end the 
theory of population are exemined In connection. 

. Selkirk recognized the significance of the economic and soc· 
•al change~ brought about in Highland Society after the Battle of 
~ulloden m 1!46. Before Culloden, the clan system was pyramidal 
In structure With the bottom stratum composed of cotters, and the 
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apex crowned by a chieftain. The power of the chief lay in the num­
ber of men he could bring into battle rather than in the general 
prosperity of his clansmen or his personal wealth. The value of 
landed property, in effect, was measured not by the rent money it 
produced but by the number of fighting men who could be sent into 
the field.18 The chief who possessed extensive territories granted 
large farms to younger members of his family or to trusted offiCers 
The tacksmen, as they were called, were primarily those in command 
of the military operations of the clan and as such had little interest 
in the pursuit of agriculture, leasing their land to sub-tenants who 
held their soil "from year to year on the suHrance and goodwill of 
the tacksmen.''19 The insecurity of the sub-tenant was a guarantee 
that he and his sons could be brou!/lt into the clan regiment.20 The 
cotters who formed the bottom stratum were usually landless men 
who from birth to death were servants. They were the blacksm•ths, 
tailors, herdsmen, axemen and bowmen, who in return for a "little 
grazing for a cow on the township pasture, a kail-yard and a potato 
patch by his round stone hut ... paid a lifetime of ser>~ice to dlf 
sub-tenant."21 It was for the cotters that Selkirk held the greatest 
sympathy and they were to form the majority of the Baldoon 
settlers. 

life may have been hard in this society, and tts horizoni 
limited by the universal touch of poverty, but it had the YYint 
grace of a strong sense of personal responsibility to its members 
The relationships of man to man, and of family members to each 
other compensated greatly for the material scarcity suffered by 

Highlanders. This intensely personal, inward·looking society came to 
an end at Culloden and with it passed a form of human organilltion 
as old as human history. 

No individual soldier In the Stuart Army of 1746 has a gr..,e. 
That was not needed all that was needed was that tach one 
should be placed in his own clan burial-piece. It might almoat bt 
said that the soldiers hid no individuality of their own. Each ona 
was, say, a Mackintosh above him was his chief, the Meckintosh, 
and above him, the chief of chiefs. Prince Charles Edward 

Here, in the• common graves, is clearly shown the lest of • 
form of government which hid ruled humanity for as fer beck IS 

human history can go - indeed, for further yet, for in a crude 
form it can be seen In the apes. It was e tribal, a racial, society. 
The rule of the chieftains over the clans tmplied, as a logic* 
necessity, the rule of the King over the chiefteins. The Hanoverian 
soldiers . •• were agents of e power which was determined to 
break this older power down, and to substitute for it a form of 
society in wtlich each man was an Individual. He might bl richer, 
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..__ t ... ~ -oth« It'd tt>e 1- would take due nota of 
or~r....,.n. ·-·-· • 
tlllt. 

Forces other thin H1noverian miht•v power were elso It 
work on Hi!tlland society at thit time. Ei~teenth century Scot11nd 
experienced economic ch1nge of 1 ldnd 1nd of a ."P'.d1ty up to then 
unknown in the country's history. The Act of Umon 10 1707 ?pened 
up the large Engli~ and colonial marlcets to an ~conomy wh1ch was 
still staggering from the effects of the Dar~en f1.sco. F_rom a dom· 
estic marlcet of some one million, the scope for Scottish products 
and enterpti$8 was widened to include the 5~ millions of England, 
plus the markets of Ireland and the overseas colonies. An economic 
backwater, Scotland was suddenly thrust mto the role of participant 
in an extmsive trading system. 

The Scottish Enli~tenment, spreading the secular gospel of 
reform and scient1fic progrus, encouraged a climate of receptivity 
to new economic ideas, especi1lly in the field of agriculture. lntell· 
igent legislation spurred economic growth: the establishment of the 
Board of Trustees for Improving Fisherys and Manufactures in Scot· 
land introduced a measure of state encouragement - and financial 
aid - to industnes such as textiles, especially the m1nufacture of 
linens. 

The Jacobite Rebellions, in their destruction of the old clan 
system and the consolidation of scattered lindholdif\9$, contrtbuted 
in the long run to the gener1l economic improvement of Scotland, 
and the general well·being of Butam as a whole. The Forfeited 
Est~tes Commissioners, established in 1752 by the Crown, improved 
agncultural methods and encouraged m1nufacturing on the estates 
w.ithin their jurisdiction. The Hanoverian campatgns to put down the 
F•!teen and the Forty-five necessitated a great deal of road and 
~1d_ge building, which was to have a significant effect on commun· 
ICitlons and commerce in the Hi~ lands. 

of na That economic conditions improved was, in I sense a defiance 
mmt ture. Sco!l~nd WIS an unpromismg land for economic develop-

.' as a Ptt•t•on to the House of Commons about 1720 .... . 
stnktng terms. ~nows 1n 

Seotltnd ... cou t 
Parts of Eur ,.. ry the most berren of any Nation in thew 
POr ope, they hiYe nothing of thetr own 9'owth to e 

t, except corn co. Is cat 1 x • 
fonn any Manuf ' ' t e end some wool; nor nothing to 
boun. There is :t~~" ~t what they receiw from their neigh. 
Nataon but the want o'f~dert s Scotia~~ from being a Tntd•ng ........,, oexpon. 



12 

Within Scotland, the contrast betw~n Hi~lands lnd LOll 
lands was marked. In central Scotland and the eastern w~z 
far north as Aberdeen was some of the richest (tf ineff1citnt!) 
worked) agricultural land in Britain. The Hitllands by coot'" 
formed a region of rock and mountain, with scattered settlemer.!; 
subsisting on the thin soil of river valleys and sea lochs. In diet 
areas, overstocking wtth cattle and sh~p. and lack of wmlerfod:lr 
resulted in a high mortality rate in livestock each wmter. The In 
could maintain large numbers of sheep and cattle to bt sure, b.1 
only as a commercial proposition, not as the suppon of 1 all' 

siderable population. 
For the Highlends, economic improvement of the I'"" 1111 

bought at a severe human price. Economic transformation chqa( 
the face of the Highlands at the expense of the old rel1t10ns!upbt 
tween man and man, Obligation in the post·Rtbellion SOCiety d 
the Highlands was defined in cash terms, not service. Less m.t 1 

generation after the Forty·five, Samuel Johnson nottd : 

The Chiefs, dtvested of thetr prer~t1vt1, necesunly turl'4d 
their thoughts to the improvement of thttr revenues. end tKpe<:t 
more rent, 11 they have leu homegt . The ttnent, who" fttr from 
perceiv1ng that hts condition is made better •n the """' pro· 
pOrtion, as that of his landlord is m.cie worse, does not immed· 
iattly • why his industry 11 to be tued more heav1IV thlll bt· 
fore . He rtfutes to PIIY the dtmtlld, end is ejecttd; thtll'ound IS 
then Itt to 1 ltratl9fr. who ptrhiiPS brings • lerger stock, but 
who, taking the lend at ttl full price, treats w1th tile l..ltrd \11)011 

equal ttrms. end considers him not as 1 Ch•tf, but • I trlffltt,r: 
in lend. Thu1 the estate is improved, but the tlen 11 broken 

In 1792, the same year in which Lord Selkirk made htStout 
of the Highlands, another traveller observtd that the same huml\ 
cost was still being exacted as estates and livestock repltced tilt 
small leaseholds of the tenants and cotters. In strict economic tJml!. 

the new agriculture of the Highlands was a success storv: greatereff 
iciency in land use and well·managed herds and flocks me~t tN1 
Britain could feed a larger population. But that populatiOn was 
undergoing a massive internal redistribution. The native Ht1!1ande!l 
moved out as Sassenachs, sheep and cattle movtd in: 

Managers of sheep from Clydesdale and other south«n countilt: 
have, within these last ten or twelve years, begun to rtsort tlgtf 

ly to the Highlands. They have obtetn.cf, ln many pieceS. lontl 
leues from the proprtetors of the 18flds. 1n these perts • • · " 
rents much higher than werf' paid for the sam• ftrms. · • • eucll• 
no Highlandman could PIIY . by the old prtctt .. of ferm•ne. · • • 
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--n.t _.,....-en 111•a'lllb'e ,_,..of 1M..,_.. lt8te 
of .. ..,...._, •illnl frCIIft ca-. eo. ... COfttral end"' tt· 
.... ., _.. ....... ,.. to tile trenqUility ... ..,. .... 
...... .. .. llillldCIIft. ·21 

So mud! for the ...... conditions in Scott.nd which , .. 
.,hid in llftl tcllt n9'1tian. Something must be llid of the local 
conditioN In ttae .,.. from which the fifteen Blkloon femilin 
m9111d, IPICificllly the County of Afl¥11, lnd, mort perticu .. rly, 
the •• of Mull INI TN. Selkirk, in his Ot.rletions, wrote: 

In the wly 1710's. Sir John Sindair compiled swistics 
on the PGPUIItion of the H9\llnds lnd "PPrtS .,.t to him bv the 
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parish ministers of Mull and Tiree agree wtth Selkirk 's view of the 

conditions in those areas. 
The Reverend Archibald McColl, in his report for the Isle of 

Tiree which formed part of the lordship of the Isles administered 
by the Mcleans as representatives of the McDonalds, stated that, al · 
though no one had as yet emigrated from Tiree to America, "some 
folk talk of doing so."29 McColl explained further "that crop fail ­
ures in 1790 and 1791 together with the low price of kelp and cattle 
had caused considerable hardship and that many of them would 
soon have to go elsewhere unless manufacture be introduced to gtve 
them employment."30 

The reports from the Isle of Mull which also belonged to the 
lordship of the Isle were even more critical. The Rev. Archtbald Mc­
Arther of the parish of Kilninian reported that condtt ions were so 
poor, that unless something drastic were done by those in charge 
there woold be little hope for any increase in prosperity . . .. but 
rather the reverse would occur.31 He went on to report that so 
many of thetr people were poor that the list of those who were re­
cipients of public charity was never under seventy and in some years 
was between ninety and one hundred.32 

The Rev . Dugal Campbell , reporting on conditions in the 
parish of Kilfinchen and Kilviceuen, Isle of Mull, stated that anum­
ber of families had emigrated to America and that several families 
had left in 1792 to seek employment in the cotton work of the low 
Country.33 

The population of Mull increased by 80 per cent between 
1775 and 1811 . In two generations, the island's population saw a 
classic Malthusian dilemma unfold before their eyes. Properties were 
divided to accommodate the increase. A mixed rural economy based 
on cattle-raising, oats, and potatoes devolved to a subsistence econ­
omy dependent like that of Ireland, on a single crop, the potato.34 

The poverty of the cotters could be readily observed in the 
general wage scale of the Isles as follows: 

A man sen~ant a year from £3 to £4.10.0d.; exclusive of what 
shoes he required; 11 maidsen~ant had somewhat less than half of 
these wages; a day-labourer could not be had for under 6d. a day 
and h1s victuals or from 10d. to 1/3d. a day without.35 

These figures contrast significantly with those earned in 
Upper Canada. John McDougall, one of the Baldoon settlers, writing 
home in 1806 stated: 
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There is good encouragement for tradesmen in th is Country, vil . 
Carpenters, Blacksmiths and Shoemakers, that have two dollars 
per day and their victuals - labouring men has from 1 dollar and 
12 Shillings per day .36 

In 1792, Selkirk did not possess the financial resources to 
effect any plans he might have had to relieve the d1stress he found in 
Scotland. The line of succession to the earldom appeared secure and, 
as the seventh son, Selkirk never thought of succeeding to the title. 
Through a series of tragic events, Thomas, the seventh son, became 
in 1799 the fifth Earl of Selkirk and, as such, a man of sufficient 
wealth and influence to carry out a scheme of m igration and planned 
settlement. 



17 

FOOTNOTES 

INTRODUCTION. 

1. The ncendency of James I (King James VI of Scotland), son of Mary 
Stuart, to the throne of England, m 1603, brought about the pertonal 
union of England and Scotland. The Act of Union 1707 united the 
two countr1es under the name Great 8r1tam In 1687 James II was 
forced to flee England and his daughter Mary and her husband W1ll· 
iam ruled until 1702 (Mary d1ed 16941 . The son of James II while in 
eJule in France la1d claim to the throne of Great Britam as James Ill. 
In 1715 "The Fifteen" the supporters of James' Ill claim (known as 
Jacobitesl led an unsuccessful uprising in Scotland . In 1745 "The 
Forty-Five", the Jacob1te supporters were led by Bon me Prince 
Charles in a futile attempt to procla1m h1s father as James VIII of 
Scotland and James Ill of England. 

2. John Prebble, The Highland Clearenc!!_ (London 19631, preface. 

3. John Grey, Lord Selkirk of Red River (Toronto 19631, p.328. The 
name Baldoon for .the settle.:nent derives from an estate in Scotland 
that Selk1rk mherited from his mother the Duchess of Hamilton. 

CHAPTER ONE 

1. John Gray, Lord Selkirk of Red River (Toronto, 19631, p. 9. 

3. The Earl wrote end had published, A Letter Addressed to John Cart· 
w!:i.si't,.!!g,_ In this letter Selkirk endeavoured to put forth his views 
on further parliamentary reform. Although a Whig, the excesses of the 
French Revolution and a growing disillusionment with the practical 
implementation of the democratic theory of the United States caused 
him to switch his political allegiance to the Tories, " a political advent· 
urer, raised to power by popular favour, is fully as likely to abuse that 
power, as is the purchaser of a rotten borough." Ibid., pp. &4·5. 

4. Ibid., p. 13. 

5. T.C. Smout, History of the Scottish People 11560-1830). (Bungay, 
Suffolk, 19721. p. 453. 

6. Ibid., p. 453. 

7. George Bryce, The Life of Lord Selkirk (Toronto, 1913), p. 12. 



18 

8 . ·~ .• p . 12. 

9. Grey, op. cit., p . 13. 

10. Bryce,~·· p. 86. 

11 . Gn~y.~ .• p. 7. 

12. Ibid., p. 15. 

13. Lon! Selkirtt's Diery, 1803.()4 ed. Petrick Whole (Toronto, Tilt 
Ctwnplein Society, 19581, p . xxix . 

14. Ibid . p . xxix. 

15. Selkirk, Obtervetions On The P~nt Stete of The HithlendnfScllll· 
lend With A View o! !he Ceuses end Problble Coni!QU!I!C!I of E~~~o 
gr8tion (Edinburgh, 18061, p . 2. 

16. The Edinburgh Review or Criticel Journal, Oct, 1806 · ...... Ill 
(Edinburgh, 18061, Vol. VII , p . 187. 

17. Ibid., p . 202. 

18. Selkirk,~. p. 15. 

19. John Prebble, The Hiattlend Cleen~nces (London, 19631. p. 21 

20. Ibid., p. 21 . 

21. Ibid., p.21 . 

22. G.D.H. Cole 8t Aeymond Postgete, The Common P!!!plt. 174;. 
1946., 2nd. edition (London, 1946), p, 1 

23. Ouoted in Henry Hemilton, ~Economic Hist~tllnd in,!!! 
Eighteenth Cent~ (Oxford, 1963), xiii. 

24. Semuel Johnson, ~rney to the Western lslends of Scod!!· 
edited by A.W. Chepmen (LondOn, 19241. pp, 85-86. 

25. A. Heron, Ol:lterv1t1ons made in a Journey throu~ tht ~ 
Cou_11_ti8!..Q!_ Scotland ( 17921. Quoted in A ,H. Campbell II J.B .A. ()olr 

ltds.l, A Sourceeook of Scottish Econom1c and ~ 
(011Cford.19681, P.52. 

26. For estimates of the numbers emigr8ting from the H1ghl~ .,d 
Islands in the letter pert of the e~ghteenth century, - HIITIIItOft. 
Economic History of Scotland, p . 13. 

27. Ibid., p . 2. 



19 

28 Ibid .• p. 38. 

29 John Sindllir, The StMittic:81 Account of Scotlend (Edinburgh, 17941, 
Vol. 10, p , 416. 

30 ~. p. 416 . 

31 . John Smct.tr, ~- dt ., Vol . 14, p , 155. 

32. ~. p. 149. 

33. lb!_d .• p. 191 . 

34, Smout, ~. p , 327. 

35. Ibid., pp 11!i1 -2. 

36. John McDougeld to Hugh McDoupd, 29th April 1806; S.lk1rk 
P~, Pubhc Archlvwt of c.n.da. M.G . 19, E .l, Vol . 55, pp. 14739-
40. All Selk1rk Peper• uMd in thos thesis ere in the Public Arch1ves of 
c.n.te. 



20 

CHAPTER II 

GOVERNMENT OBSTRUCTION 

Selkirk's first proposal concerning emigrat1on was on bthif 
of the Irish, not his fellow Scotsmen, when the1r pli~t came 1t: 

national attention as the result of the rebellion of 1798. Aim 1 

tour of Ireland to gain first-hand knowledge of the situation. ~if 
drew up a memorial entitled, A Proposal Tending to the Ptl'lllnlt 
Serurity of I reland.1 Although his mot1ves were undoubt!dy 
humanitarian, he attempted to mask his altruism by couch111g h.'s 
proposal in terms of national interest: His Majesty's Governrnect 
could rid itself of the more rebellious Irishmen who would un­
doubtedly be the leaders in any revolt, and unburden 1t1elf of tholr 
whose very poverty made them easy prey to provocateurs 2 Selk1rk 
proposed Louisiana as the location for the settlement bealll of 
its importance as a communication route and because of its hosll 
able climate. Government officials were Interested because Bran• 
coveted the territory only recently ceded by Spatn to France. How· 
ever, at the peace negotiations begun in 1801 at Amiens bel'l\~ 
France and Britain, Louisiana dtd not become a negotiable iwe~ 
remained a French possession. Selkirk then turned his attention to 

the Red River area. 
It is quite possible that the exploits of Alexander MacKenzc 

whose Voyages, printed in 1801, contained an account of his expiOI 
ation, drew Selkirk's attention to the West? Although he nf'ltl 
abandoned his plans for the Red River, he was induced to tt~ 
elsewhere after Lord Pelham. the Secretary of State, vetoed the idet 
because of his oppos1t1on to emigration • especially mass Irish em 
gration and because he did not want, for political reasons, to Intel 

fere with the Hudson's Bay Company.4 

On the 11th of January, 1802, Selktrk met with Hoblrt. tht 
Colon ial Secretary, to discuss various emigration program~~·~ 
Pelham before him Hobart was unsympathetic to Selkuil s • . . eht 
River proposal; however he was not opposed to colomsattOn . 
where and informed Selkirk that he would give every coosiderltJOII 
to a req uest for land in Prince Edward Island. Selkirk still prefer110 
an inland settlement over a maritime one. Therefore, in a letter tO 
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the 6th of July • 1802. he requested a grant. of land in 
~obpea~tcC:ada at St. Mary's Falls (Sault Ste Marie) and. '". ordelr .~g 

P . t "also of the mmes and mmera s t part of hts expenses, a gran d 
mee . d. r along the north shores of lakes Supertor an 
he mt~t tscove d k th 
H Selk•rk indicated in his letter a wtllingness to un erta e e 
se~;~:ent of Pnnce Edward Island, tf the condttions of the .gra~t 

ble ·,n COOJ·unct•on with hts proposal for St. Mary s. e were reasona • 
argued that: 

By poSMSS•ng thete d1fferent g<ln1S '" connectton I could devote 
to them more of my t•me and attent1on than I could afford to 
e1ttwr lli)arttely and should therefore h~ to render them more 
beotfic111 both to mytelf and the public 

Hobart tn h1s reply of the 30th July 1802, stated that the 
Government ~ld not be able to grant any spectal consideration 
and that tf Selktrk wished to pursue his settlement plans for Upper 
Canada any further, he would have to meet the general regulations 
regard1ng the granting of waste lands.8 In effect, he was tellmg Sel· 
k~rk he would not rece1ve the addtt•onal grant of m1nes and mmerals 
to help defray his costs. Hobart went on to state that: 

If upon th•s expllnltton, your Lordsh•p Should thmk the subttct 
dete"'tniJ your further con~tderat•on. end wtll do me the honOI' 
to mform me what number of Ptrsons you may calculate upon 
be•ng lblt to engage as ~tilers under your dttectton, I w ill take 
H1s MaJesty's pleasure for sanding the necMsary dorect•o ns to 
the Go~~ernor of Upper Canada, to afford the most favourable 
conslderatton which h•s General Instructions w•ll admtt to your 
Lordlh1p's epplication; and I shall have great pleasure m g1vtng 
every factllty in my power to the furtherance of your Lordsh•p' s 
vttws.11 

The Colonial Secretary felt that the Government of Canada 
would "probably object to the introduction of a large number of 
Irish settlers at the commencement" 10 and advised Selktrk to en· 
gage either Scottish or German families. Selktrk was delighted w1th 
the reply and, in his letter of 21st August, 1802, enthusiastically 
agreed to lord Hobart's suggestion that he bring out people "more 
tractable than the lrish"11 as he could secure a suff1cient number of 
Scots who were at the very moment about to emigrate. He was most 
anx•ous, however, to see the term~ of the qrant changed as he be· 
heved conditions at St. Mary's requJred that "some modification 
~ould ~ made on the usual terms of His Majesty's Amencan 

rants" and in his letter of the 21st August. 1802, he endeavour-
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ed to justify his earlier proposal. The strait, he argued, was lilt~ 
means of communicatiOn between the eastern provinces -., 1111 
western territory, other than throu{ll the Umted States, and prowij 

ed also for the ~ssage of valuable fur trade. The strateg.c impo!UIQ 
of the strait could not therefore be overlooked by His Majesty'sGor· 
ernment and must be serured before control of the strait !*-' tD 
the Americans. 13 Selkirk contended that, as the area was extrllllt!y 
remote and the land less fertile 1nd hospitable thtn the more toUf\, 

erly ~rts of the province, it would require "extr10rd1nary encGU! 

~gement"14 to 1ttr1Ct settlers. Consequently, he requestedthtf~ 
of mineral rights in compensation for the extra expense IIIQirredll 

offering more favourable terms to attract the nec:tsSMY •nlm 
As he received no reply to his letter of the 21st Aupt nl 

1 subsequent letter of the 30th November, he ca~tioned the GOWt!ll· 
ment m a letter of the 25th of J1nuary, 1803, th1t beclult It • 
necessary to make immediate prepar1tions for those rettlen ai!Niy 
assembled and because he could not afford to meet Ill the ex..-s 
he had incurred, he could turn the immed1ate debts into a profitlblt 
account through "1 purchase in the western territory of the Urnttd 
States".15 He maintained, however, that "little short of abtolu1l 
necessity would make me think of this resource".16 

On the 1st February, 1803, Selkirk made a separate propoul 
to the Rt. Hon. Henry Addington in which he asked for peonissiOn 
to settle those already recruited on "the unappropriated lands in 
that portion of Upper Canada south west of L1ke Suncoe andY~ 
Street."17 Selku1c included in his request concessions beyond lht 
usual terms of the grant of waste lands. Addington di$CUSIICI lht 
Pfopcnal with lord Hobart who replied by letter to Selkirit on lht 
12th February. 1803, that the Government was in no position to.., 
itiate any action on the scale Selkirk had requested. Howevt~ 

If with tuctl MC:Ouregemer~t • the general r•latioM rnentionld 
in my liSt letter to your Lordship of the 30th Junel•t Wtllld­
mit, you should be inclined to make the anempt upon • mort 
limited ~cele I shall feel extremely diiPC)IICI to extlf'd ttiiC "'' 
eouraoement • fer 11 It can be done without • total davilt'c; 
from the princtple which n. hitherto bMn acted upon. 

Earlier historians of the Baldoon settlement have not fuly 
explained the move from St. Mary's. Four important developmii!U 
led to this sudden change in location. First, the North West Colli' 
Piny viewed a proposed settlement at St. Mary's as an intrusion 11110 

their traditional trading area. l9 A second, and ultim1telv the lftGII 
important fiCtor was the reaction of the settlers to the sill. 1111¥ 
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were completely IQOOI'Int of the geooraphy of Canida; ho~er. 
upon payment of their initial instalment they bec1me acqu1mted 
with 1ts loe~tion and inststed on a less isolated r~on, one close to 
their fellow countrymen who had em1gr1ted e1rlier.:n The report of 
Richard ~age. Selkirk's agent in Upper Can.Sa, on the conditions 
at St Mary's provtded a third reason fOI' 1 change of location. The 
climate he reported, was inhOSPit.ltble 1nd the soil of poor quality 

• '21 
compared to other areas of Upper Canida. 

Fin1lly, "The Highl~nd Society", alarmed it the incrusing 
number of emigrating Scots, exerted consider.1ble polittcal pressure 
upon the Government wh1ch in turn cautioned Selkirk to ftnd means 
of attractin~tmigrants to Canada without encourag1ng the spirit of 
emigration. The proposed settlement at St. Mary's would have re· 
quired considerable financiil expenditure which the Government 
now felt even more reluctant to dispense. 13 Thus Selksrk came to 
favour the selectton of a more hospitable area, one which he oould 
support throu!jl his own resources. He therefore suggested lands 
south-west of Lake Stmcoe and Yonge Stre-et in Upper Canada. In 
further discussions between Selksrk, Hobart and Mr Sullivan, Ho· 
bart's intermediary, it became ev1dent that the Government still pre· 
ferred an initial settlement at Prince Edward Island. Because time 
was short, settlers having already been recruited for Upper Canida, 
Selktrk agreed to settle these people on the Island. In the mtroduc· 
tion to his Observations, he wrote: 

I - gtwn to underttand, however. that 1t would be more sat IS· 

f.ctory to Government. if the people 1 h~ en~ were •ltled 
in • m•it1me 11tu11ion, insteld of thll 1 had 11 f1rst in contem· 
PilliOn For reesons, whtch 1 may per"-Ps have oc:c•1on here· 
after to ley before the publ1c, 1 wu by no means .at1sf1ed thlt 
lh1s suggestion wes founded in just Ytews of n1t1on•l policy. 
Ntvertheltu, I thought 1t my duty. under Ill the circumstence-s 
of the tete, to ICQuteSCe end determined on m1ki09 my •ttle· 
rnent in the Island of St. John (now celled Prmce Ectwwd"s) 
in the Gulph of St L-•nce.24 

SubseQuent to his proposal to settle at Prince Edward Island 
Selkirk received th . ' C e opportuntty to locate a settlement 1n Upper 
~nada, at some future date. on the terms suggested by Hobart 1n 

hts letters of the 12th February, 1803, and June 30th, 1802. Hobart 
wrote on 28th February, 1803, to Lieutenant-General Hunter Lieu­
:n~nt-Governor of Upper Canada, signifying that it wa; "His 
aJes~·s Pleasure to grant, in the usual, and subject to the customary 

regula_ttons, to Lord Selkirk a grant of any township not already ap· 
propnated which he may prefer".25 In July 1803, 800 of the set· 
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tiers ong.nally tntended for Upper Canada ~ailed to Prince Edward 
Island, accompanied by Selk1rk.26 Selk1rk took advantage of the 
time in Prince Edward Island to v1sit various parts of the Un1ted 
States and Canada. He left the Island on the 17th September, 1803, 
w1th two purposes in mind. One was the examination of land wh1ch 
he had purchased earlier in the Genessee area of northern New York 
and the other was the orgamsation of his projected settlement in 
Upper Canada. 27 Despite the fact that his efforts in the summer of 
1803 were "directed towards the colonisation of Prince Edward 
Island, he did not lose si~t of his plan for a settlement in Upper 
Canada. "28 

Dunng the summer of 1802, Selk1rk had directed his agent, 
Richard Savage, to purchase up to 1,000 sheep in the eastern United 
States and to have them ready to take to Upper Canada.29 William 
Bum, an experienced sheep farmer, was chosen as his overseer and 
Alexander Brown, a fellow Scotsman. was hired to help Burn take 
care of the sheep. Burn arrived in New York on the 10th December, 
1802, and wintered at White Creek. 30 Selkirk in a letter of the 16th 
June, 1803, mstructed Burn to visit the country between Niagara 
and Detroit. 

I have an order from the King for a grant in thet quarter of eny 
township I shall choose and therefore I wish you to take a gen · 
erat v•- of the Country before my amvat to give me a guess 
of the best Sttuations,31 

Selkirk arrived at York (Toronto) on the 20th November, 
1803 and remained there until 4th January, 1B04.32 It was during 
hts stay at York that he dec1ded to establish his settlement in the 
north west portion of Dover Township.33 Since he had not yet 
read Burn's report, this dec1sion was undoubtedly reached on the 
basis of his conversation the previous fall with Father Burke of 
Halifax, and his several meetings with the lieutenant-Governor of 
Upper Canada, Lieutenant-General Hunter, together with his many 
visits to the Surveyor General's office in York where he had diligent· 
ly studied the maps of the LaTranche (Thames) and River St. Clair 
area~. 34 

It has been arguoo that Selkirk selected Baldoon "for geo· 
graphical considerations of national strategy and therefore stands 
open to the charge of settling areas with an eye to the map rather 
than to the markets for colonial produce. "35 There is no doubt that 
one of the major considerations for the selection of Baldoon was 
that of national strategy, but it was not the only one. During his stay 
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at Halifax in the fall of 1803, Selkirk had met with Father Burke, 1 

Roman Catholic clergyman, and the ensuing discussion dealt wtth 
the possibility of establishing a settlement in Upper Canada. Father 
Burke regretted the fact that Selkirk had induced his people to senle 
on Prince Edward Island for Burke viewed Upper Canada "both as a 
better country and one of importance to be secured to Great Britain 
by a colony of Europeans • avert to the danger of being settled by 
Yankees. as also necessity of securing the Passes at Detroit and R. St 
Clair to preserve the trade to the upper country ."36 

Selkirk concurred with Burke's assessment of the Importance 
of the south-western region of Upper Canada and informed him that 
his original plan was to establish a settlement in that area, but he had 
been induced by His Majesty's Government to transfer his settlers to 
Prince Edward lsland.37 The following day. Selkirk and Burke spent 
two or three hours poring over a map of Upper Canada and Selktrk 
mentioned that he preferred a location where there was more room 
to spread "in which view R. St. Clair or LaTranche was preferable," 
and "where a settlement could be formed and kept distinct from the 
Yankees, unmixed and not hemmed in -(where) the object of keep· 
ing up their national distinction should be studied, to prevent thetr 
imbibing the principles and dispositions of Yankees, which would 
otherwise pervade the whole country. " 39 

Lieutenant-General Hunter with whom Selkirk had several 
meetings while at York, undoubtedly agreed with Selktrk's selec· 
tion from a purely military point of view as he was keenly aware 
of the military importance of the region. On the 23rd April, 1802. 
General Hunter had received a manuscript from Gather Mann, Col· 
onel Commanding, Royal Engineers, Quebec, entitled Some General 
Observations on the Boundary between the British Provinces of Can· 
ada and New Brunswick and t he United States.:Jg- In this report. 
Colonel Mann mentioned the military importance of the area and 
specifically of several of the islands between Lakes Erie and Huron.

40 

Hunter was greatly impressed and forwarded the manuscript to 
Edward Thornton, British representative to the United States, with 
a descrip tion of the report as "being the best information upon that 
subject which I have yet been able to obtain.'-"1 

Althou!tl Selkirk was well aware of the settlement's strategic 
importance, a further consideration and one undoubtedly of equal 
importance was that of securing land which would enable his senle· 
ment to prosper. His extensive knowledge of soils and land use made 
it quite clear that the rich soil of Dover township and the excellent 
water transportatio n routes available would greatly increase the 
settlement's chances of success. The tract of land he selected was 
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open, which meant that little clearing would be. n~sary and the 
lush grasses would provide excellent fodder for h1s sheep. I~~ ~~~ter 
to Burn in June 1803, when he asked his overseer to v~s1t the 
country between that (Niagara) and Detroit",

42 ~e wanted mforma· 
tion on the area in order to make the best select1on of land and he 
mentioned that he had already been told that "there is much land 
thereabouts, naturally clear of wood and good pasture which must 

. ..43 
be of great convemence. 

The motto of the Douglas Family, "F irmior Quo Paratior" 
. The Firmer as the More Prepared'A4 was prophetically apt for 
Thomas Douglas. Decisions for Thomas were made only after care­
ful weighing of concrete ev1dence and it is therefore not surprising 
that Selkirk strongly favoured planned, rather than random settle· 
ment. During his tour of 1803-04, nothing connected with settlement 
escaped h1s notice or his pen. Motivated by a strong desire to ensure 
the success of his colonizing theories, he issued detailed instructions 
to McDonnell, his newly appointed farm manager, on the settle­
ment's operation. These instructions, contained in McDonnell's 
notebook, cover a wide range of act ivity from the employment of 
the indenture system to the raising and marketing of sheep and 
cattle. 

The indenture system was employed by Selkirk because land 
was so plentiful and cheap that in order to attract settlers it would 
hiVe to be offered at very low prices. However, the low prices would 
be extremely attractive to people from the United States and these 
he considered to be of the worst type.45 Land-hungry labourers 
from Europe would undoubtedly indenture themselves for the OpP­

ortunity of being brought to Canada if they could have a farm of 
the1r own at the end of their indenture.46 Selkirk realised that this 
system offered many disadvantages because some of those indentured 
would work With such ill will that their labour would be of little 
value, and others would desert.47 This Selkirk blamed on the lack 
of formal t1es as most indentured people were single. He hoped to 
overcome this disadvantage by bringing out indentured families. He 
also introduced an incentive programme where allowance would be 
made for work done beyond a fi)(ed amount and the settlers would 
be allowed to share in the produce of their labour. Additional land 
mi~t also be granted to parents of young indentured men if the 
children served faithfully, thus committing the family unit even 
more closely to the settlement.48 The Home Farm was to be the 
centre of the settlement, and the work of the indentured on this 
f~rm was expected to produce a profit which would re1mburse Sel­
k~rk for his e)(penses. 
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Sheep were to be the staple upon which the farm would floor· 
ish. Selkirk anticipated eventually wintering 10,000 to 15,000 tnd 
saw the possibility of employing the system used in Spain where 
sheep were sent from one part of the country to another for winter 
and summer pasture.49 This would require more land than Selk r\ 
possessed and he therefore negotiated to obtain more land further 
west in what is now the state of Michigan.50 The breed of sheep wu 
extremely important and Selkirk imported Spanish Merino rams 
which had acquired a wide reputation for their wool-bearing qual· 
ities. The market for the wool produced would be found in Albany, 
New England, Kentucky, Pittsburg and Lower Canada.51 

Cattle were to be wintered on the coarse grasses, with a da1ry 
herd of approximately twenty and the milk to be applied entirely to 
the making of cheese and butter. 52 He also hoped to purchase one 
hundred cattle annually to fatten for market.53 A small number of 
horses were also to be raised, both for the market and as beasts of 
burden. 

The usual fodder crops -hay, timothy, and clover- were 
to be grO\Nn with a few cereal crops such as Indian corn, oats and 
wheat. Selkirk believed the two crops best SUited for an export mar· 
ket were rape seed, which could be converted into oil for easy trillS· 
port, and hemp, for which there was a strong demand in Europe.!i4 
A distillery would be an asset to ensure a market for the surplus 
grains, and a grist mill would be needed for the settlers' cereal crops 
However, these constructions could wait until the settlers were more 
securely established. 

The proposed settlement appeared destined for full develop­
ment because the site apparently offered the necessary environment 
for exploitation. Through planned settlement based on family inden 
ture, Selkirk believed he could minimize hardships and trouble, and 
assure the settlement's success. Human problems could be sur· 
mounted: however, nature was to provide the one intractable obsta· 
cle. 
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CHAPTER Ill 

THE ARRIVAL OF THE SETTLERS 

Selk1rk left Charlottetown, Ponce Edward Island, on the 
17th of September, 1803, satisfied that his mar1t1me settlement 
would succeed. He spent the next 9 months travelling extensively 
throu!tJout New England, Upper New York State, the eastern part 
of Upper Canada and parts of lower Canada. In May 1804. he cross· 
ed the N1agara R1ver into Upper Canada determmed to v1sit the s1te 
he had selected in Dover Township. Wlll1am Burn the actmg overseer 
was already in residence with a few hired men preparing the site. 

On the 30th of May Selkirk set out for Baldoon from Burl· 
mgton Bay, stopping initially at Hatts Farm, Ancaster, where the 
Hatt brothers from England had developed a thriving busmess wh1ch 
included a mill, distillery and potash works.1 Selkirk made extensive 
notes on the development act1vit1es at Ancaster wh1ch he believed 
could be put to Immediate use in h1s own settlement. By the 1st of 
June he was at Mr. lngersol's in Oxford on the Thames. where he 
spent the night. On the 2nd of June he sent the horses on to Dela· 
ware wh1le he and h1s party continued their journey in three canoes 
provided by the great Indian leader Joseph Brant, and paddled by 
six of his followers. They proceeded down the Thames, passing Put· 
nam's Saw M1ll and Reynolds Mill at Dorchester. They encamped 
three miles upstream from the forks of the Thames and the next day 
arrrved at the forks where they found a group of Chippewas en­
camped. 

2 
After stopping briefly and receiving a fine supply of black 

bass from the Chippewas they continued to Delaware where they 
stopped to visit the Brighams, Tiffanys and Allans.3 Selkirk's party 
Dassed a restless night on the 4th of June at Muncy, their sleep dis· 
turbed by an lnd1an ceremonial gather~ng which lasted the night.4 

N~xt morning Selkirk's tired party set off on the last leg of their 
tnp and arrived at the settlement on or about the 7th of June. 

. The mstructions from Hobart to Hunter in February 1802 in· 
dltated that Selkirk was to receive a gift of any township that he 
preferred which had not already been appropriated, subject of 
course to customary regulations. As there was not sufficient land un-
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TABLE SHOWING THE QUANTITY OF LAND f'IECEIVED, FIE GRANTED, 
APPROPRIATED BY AND DUE TO THE RIGHT HONORABLE 

THE EARL OF SELKIRK , UNDER ROYAL Of'IDER OF 
28TH FEBRUARY, 1803 

A B c 
R-Ived In Acr" H.-do of F81T1111" A c re• H•ed• of Femll• Aa" 
right of re-9'ented to Approprleted to 

The Eerl of Selkirk ~200 Allan McDoug~~l 50 Angu1 Mc Oougel 50 
Allen McDoug~~l 200 Heir of John John McDougal,Sr, 50 
Jofln McDoUgiii,Sr, 200 Me Doug~~I,Sr 50 John Brown 50 
Don•ld Brown 200 Ooneld Brown 50 Hugh McCallum 50 
Donald McDonald, 200 Doneld M c:Doneld , 50 John McDonald, 50 

tel lor teilor 1on of Peter 
Angus McDoneld, 200 Angus M cDoneld, 50 Jam" Morrlton 50 

Shepherd lheph•rd Doneld McPhertan 50 
Cherlel Morrl.an 200 Cheri• Morroeon 50 JOhn McDonald. 50 
Doneld McCallum 200 Heir of Doneld son of piper 
AI .. McDonald, 200 McCellum 50 Alex Buchanan 50 

piper H•lr of Alex Lionel Jotlneon 50 
A"""'McPhenon 200 McDoneld,plp•r 50 Jam•St-ert 50 
John McKenzie 200 Hei r of Angus Angus McOoNid, · 50 
DOMicl McDonald, 200 McPherson 50 L...-n 

lAtlen John McKenzie 50 Jam .. CerfrM, 50 
Jollft~enen 200 Heir of Donald WMVef 

"-McDonald 200 M c Donald,Legoan 50 Semuel Crayble, 50 
AlleMcL•n 200 Heir of JOhn millwright 
...... McOoneld, 200 Buchenan 50 JoMPh Miller 50 ... Heir of Georg~~ Sweener, 50 

Peter McDoneld 50 blacksmith 
Allan Mclean 50 Robert Albin 50 

Heirs of Angus N ichol• Cornwall 50 

McOoneld.Sr. 50 Gerrard Llneley 50 

Angue McDonell , 50 Willlern Celdwetl 50 

beker J81T1• Burnt so 
Sone of Anoue Ell1eh B..-« 50 

McDoneld.Sr. 50 Cheri• F lther 50 

Allan McDonald 50 Mathies Crow 50 

John McDoneld 50 Alex Brown so 

TOTAL 4200 900 1250 -
A. Selklrtt heel r-Ived B. Selkirk regrented 900 c. Selkirk IIC)prOPrleted 
from tt1e eovernment ecr" to 18 heec:te of fem . 1250 ecree to an edd111011 
>t200 ecrn; 1200 In his II lei, 1- 50 ecr .. re el tw•ntY·f•ve h.-ell of 
own right, end 200 MC:h In conveyed to him by Allen fern Ill ... 
right of the 15 h.-de of McDougal for d•bt 
femlll•. 
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Due upOn Ktu .. Acres 

•'"" to 

An..,. McDonell, 200 
biker 

Sons of Angus, Sr. 
Allen McDonald 200 
John McDonald 200 

1100 

0 The OOvernment OWed 
Selkirk 1100 ecr" for tha 
lhr .. txtre arente thet he 
"'Ide to llt11ers. 

E 

Due upon Acres 
Appropriation to 

Angus McDougal 200 
John McDougei,Sr. 200 
John Brown 200 
Hugh McCallum 200 
John McDonald 
.on of Pater 200 
James Morrleon 200 
Donald McPherson 200 
John McDonald, 
eon of piper 200 
Alex Buchanan 200 
Ltonal St-ert 200 
James Stewart 200 
Angue McDonald, 

L...,_n 200 
Jam .. carfrH, 200 

w-..wer 
Samuel Craybla, 200 

M i llwright 
Jo .. ph Miller 200 
G-geSwHn.,., 200 

blacktmlth 
Robert Albin 200 
Nichol• Cornwell 200 
Jam" Burne 200 
Elijeh Ba-tt 200 
Chari" Fllher 200 
Garrerd Lineley 200 
Willi em C eldwall 200 
MathleeCrow 200 
Alex Brown 200 

5000 

E. Selkirk al10 sought 
en epproprlatlon of 500 
ecrae for the additlonel 
25 heeds of families 
placed on 50 acre farme 
as Indicated In (c) above. 
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F 

Flecelved In Acres 
right of 

Allan McDonald 200 
JOhn McDonald 200 
Antll.ll McDougal 200 
John McDougal 200 
Hugh McCallum 200 
Angue McDonell 200 
A neue McDonald 200 
John McDonald 200 
Ooneld McPhareon 200 
John Brown 200 
Cherles Fllher 200 

2200 

F. Instead of petitioning 
for 5600 acres of land In 
r ight of 28 M ttlars, (c a. 
d), Selkirk never pattttonad 
for or received mora than 
an additional 2200 acr .. 
In right of 11 young man. 
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appropriated in any one township in the Chenaif Ecarte area Selku·k 
petitioned for, and ultimately rece1ved, two adJoining half-townships, 
being approximately the northern halves of Dover and Chatham 
townships.5 Selk1rk's grant was progressive in that more land would 
be made available as the number of settlers increased. Initially, he 
petitioned for, and received, 1200 acres for himself and 200 .a-es 
for each of the 15 heads of fam1l1es en route from the Hi!t!lands 
Fifty acres of the 200 were to be regranted to the heads of fam•hes 6 

The Home Farm, Selkirk's personal property, was to be the 
operational centre for the settlement. Consistmg of approximately 
950 acres, this triangular property was bounded on the west by tht 
Chenail Ecart~ (Snye R•ver) , on the east by B•g Bear Creek (Syden· 
ham River), and on the north by the boundary line separating Dovet 
Town ship from the Shawnee T emtory. The settlers were to be 
placed on 50 acre lots strung out along the eastern bank of the 
Chenail Ecarte from Lake St. Cla1r to the boundary line of the 
Shawnee Territory.7 W1lliam Burn, the shepherd and overseer had 
everything prepared for Selkirk's visit, and a mess room wh1ch Burn 
had fixed for the local labourers from the Thames was offered to the 
visiting party.8 Selkirk had brought with him as prospective farm 
manager, Alexander McDonell the sheriff at York, a Dr. Shaw and 
Jilts, Selkirk's ;alet.9 Burn h~d been busy s1nce early sprmg prepar· 
ing the s1te for Selkirk's visit and for the settlers who were expected 
to arrive later in the summer. According to Selk~rk's instructions, 
Templeton, a carpenter had been hired to build an ox stable and a 
store house, and Peter McKee and a Mr. Turner were to clear p~rtof 
the Home Farm. 10 In addition to the h~red men from the area, sev· 
eral other persons were already at the site prior to Selk11k's arnval 
These included young men that Selk1rk had recruited dunng his tour 
the previous nine months. These were three young men from the 
Glengarry settlement at the eastern end of Lake Ontario includiOg 
one Angus McDonnell and at least two men from Prmce Edward 
Island, John McDonald and a Mr. Mclnnes.11 McDonald had been 
upset by the location of his site in Prince Edward Island and Pet•· 
tioned Selkirk to go to Baldoon. Although more will be said of Mc­
Donald later, he was to generate a lot of d1scontent and mismanage· 
ment. 

During his stay at Baldoon Selkirk learned as much about the 
site as time permitted. He toured his lands extensively on foot, and 
where necessary by canoe, assessmg its potential and select1119 th~ 
sites necessary for immediate development. He settled his terms w•th 
Templeton, McKee and Turner, and contracted with McKee to bu•ld 
2 houses, one for the workmen and the other for Peter McDonald. 
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who was in charge of the settlers.12 He also instructed Alex Brown, 
the shepherd hired to assist Burn, to travel to Schenectady and bring 
the sheep that his agent Richard Savage had already assembled in 
Upper New York State to Niagara.13 Instruct ions were also 1ssued 
to Lionel Johnston, in charge of a flock already assembled at Outen· 
ston, to begin the drive to Baldoon.14 

On July 9th Selkirk left Baldoon tor Sandwich in high spir· 
its, not knowing that it would be 13 years before he would agaon 
visit the area • and under more adverse c ircumstances. Selkirk rt· 
mained in Sandwich until the 27th of July, receiving estimates on 
additional bllildings such as a mill and a d ist illery. He concluded a 
contract with Ransom for the construction of a barn and instruct· 
eel McDonell to negotiate with a Mr. Bnggs for the building of a 
main house for the Farm Manager.15 On July 21st he met w1th 
Maconce the Chippewa chief to d iscuss add it ional summer past· 
urage for the sheep at Baldoon. Selkirk real ised that he would need 
more summer pasture land if the e)(tensive sheep range he enviSiged 
were to be realised. There were e)(tensive plains in Mich1gan across 
Lake St. Clair from Baldoon bllt this land was in Indian territory. 
Maconce assured his cooperation and offered land to any settlers 
Selkirk wished to settle in the area. In addition he promised to mark 
the best route between Huron River (Cl inton) in Michigan and the 
Chenail Ecarte for the sheep to be moved to summer pasture.

16 

Future difficulties, however, caused Selkirk to abandon these plans. 

Selkirk discussed the matter of accommodation for his 
settlers with Ransom. Fourteen small houses were to be built, but 
the first priority was the barn.17 Selkirk believed that the senlers 
would have at least two months of good weather before the beginn· 
ing of winter and could make do with temporary accommodltion. 
Although some crops had been planted by Burn and his workmen, 
e)(tra supplies would be needed during the first winter. Selkirk con· 
tracted with James May of Detroit to supply 500 cwt of beef, 5 pairs 
of work O)(en and 50 ewes.18 He also contracted with Matthew Dol· 
son to supply the settlers with Indian corn for the winter.19 lnst· 
ructions were given to McDonell to meet with Captain Thomas 
McKee, son of the recently retired Indian Agent, concerning the 
possibility of obtaining the Shawnee territory from the government. 
McDonell later reported that McKee had agreed to assist in this mat· 
ter.

20 
Upon leaving Sandwich, Selk•rk was confident that everv· 

thing was in readiness for his settlers who had only recently arrived 
in Ouebec. The settlers had been a~mbled at Kirkcudbright for 1 

year, in the charge of Peter McDonald. Some of the flfT'Iilies hid 
been recruited for St. Mary's in Upper Canada, but when the site 
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cNnged to Prince Edward Island they ~referred to wait upon_ the 
selection of a new site in Upper Canada. 1 Several of them dectded 
to go with those settlers specifically destmed for Prince Edward 
Island and they set sail in the late summer of 1803, but were forced 
to return. Britain and France were again at war and Selkirk instruct· 
ed them to remain at Kirkcudbright until the next year, because he 
fewed they mi!tlt be taken by French privateers.22 

A m.nor historical controversy has arisen over the 1deotity 
of the latter group of settlers, with several wnters claiming that 
they were destmed for Baldoon in 1803. This cla•m is not borne 
out by the evidence, for it was not until January 1804 that Selkirk 
notified William Mure, his estate manager at Kirkcudbright, that a 
site had been selected in Dover township for his settlement in Upper 
C.nada.23 

Selkirk selected the site during his stay at York between 
20th November, 1803 and 4th January, 1804. William Mure, on 
receipt of Selkirk's letter wrote to Wtlliam Burn, who was then 
undertlk•ng a study of the lands in the Chenail Ecarte area: 

ThiS w1ll be del1vertd to you by Peter McOol\eld your old ecqu· 
aintii\Ce, who goes out With 1 1- htghlenders thet c:.ne here 
l•t yew - they were 11\tended Oflg1n1lly for St. John's Island 
(P11nce Edward lslend) where Mr. W•lhems ''• but the Earl of 
S.lktrk wrote me from York to send them by Montreal towards 
vou,l' 

This record shows that earlier historians misunderstood the 
purpose of the 1803 departure and explams those accounts which 
have the original settlers coming directly from Prince Edward Is· 
land. The most accurate reference concerning the original number of 
settlers is to be found in the list of passengers of the ship Ou ton 
under the heading "Passengers, Labourers for the Earl of Selkirk's 
Settlement in North America" which was recorded at La Chine 
ILIChine) on 19th July, 1804. by A. Roxburgh.25 The above· 
m~~t•oned list contains names and ages of all members of the fifteen 
ongtnal families. This document was perhaps overlooked by others 
because of the heading "Passengers, labourers ... "as it was perhaps 
assumed that the list contained the names of people from Prince Ed· 
ward Island who were to be brought to the settlement to work as 
labourers; however, the intention was in fact to differentiate bet· 
ween the settlers who paid their own passage on the ship and those 
:'

0 ca~ ~oss under the mdenture. Selkirk makes reference to 
•sfact'" h•s diary on the 5th and 6th August, 1804: 
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A. Mcleen etc. not 11dnted Mked terms for 110"'11 up - 1 
promised work and l1nd cheap on credit - wages, referred to 
W. Burn.:l!& 

Research indicates that the "Passengers and Labourers .. ," 
list of the shtp Oughton, is, in fact the most accurate record of the 
number, names, and ages of the original Baldoon settlers and shows 
that there were fifteen heads of families comprising 102 persons 
Once the s1te was selected, preparations were made for the em•· 
gration of those at Kirkcudbright who w1shed to settle in Upper Can 
ada, and in July 1804, the fifteen H1ghland families disembarked at 
Montreal from the sh1p Oughton. 27 Unfortunately no record of 
the crossing has come down to us, if tndeed any of the settlers 
kept a diary. Certainly not all were illiterate, for Angus McDonald 
and Hugh McCullum were sufficiently educated to become school· 
masters in the settlement. 

To any traveller from Europe, the North American forest 
presented the greatest physical contrast to the settled lands he hJd 
left in the old country, Great stretches of birch, elm and tamarack 
stretched back for mile after impenetrable mile from the shores of 
the waterways which were the pnncipal communication routes of 
Upper and Lower Canada. The settlers destined for Baldoon, trav· 
elling by the Montreai·Ktngston-Niagara route were spared the hOf· 
rors of overland travel in oxcarts and unsprung wagons which Jl· 
most every commentator on early travel in the Canadas remembered 
with a shudder. 

Apart from the short overland journey from Montreal to 
l achine in French carts, the journey to Oueenston was accom· 
pltshed by water, which saved t1me and prov1df!d some opportuOity 
for recuperation after the rigours of the A tlant1c cross mg. The set· 
tiers arrived at Oueenston on the 5th of August, where theY were 
met by Selkirk.28 Arrangements were made tor a brief stay at Fort 
Erie. The opportunity of meeting with Selkirk to d1scuss v¥•OU1 

problems was welcomed by the settlers. Peter McDonald, whom 
Selkirk had placed in charge of the migrants, recounted the events of 
the year's stay at Kircudbright. The settlers, he maintamed, we;: 
generally well behaved and several proved to be good workmen. 
The tndentured families requested Selk~rk to allow the time spent at 
Kircudbright to count as part of their 1ndenture period.

30 
In Sel· 

kirk's v1ew they did not anticipate a favourable reply, and, when 
refused, appeared satisfied. 31 

The settlers, and in particular, Mary McCullum, complained 
that meal and potatoes were insuff1cient and asked for compenw· 
tion. 32 Selk1rk instructed McDonald to give out Indian meal lfl(l 
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corn, ICCOI'ding to proportions at Kirkcudbright33 white they were 
det11ned at Fort Erie. Fresh beef was to be gtven in lteu of mtlk.34 

Stlktrk believed the settlers should be kept busy, for too 
mudlletsure time, he thought, would make them indolent and lazy. 
He therefore issued tnstructtons that they be kept together and use· 
fully employed during their stay at Fort Erie. Several settlers were 
employed in cutttng ftrewood for the garrison, wh tie others quarried 
l!111tstone t>.llast for the ship Camden.35 The women were not for· 
gotten as Peter McDonald issued them wtth wool to be spun at the 
rate of the oountry.36 Thomas Clark, Selk irk 's agent at Oueenston, 
~-'~ ed " I f ' . lad d . . 0 " 37 enu..avour to emp oy 1ve or s1x s tn rtvtng xen. 

Leavtng Fort Erie, Selktrk resumed his JOUrney eastward to 
the Mantimes and eventually home to Scotland ; the settlers contin· 
ued westward by ship, amving at Amherstburg in the latter part of 
August. After a short stay, they completed their exhausting tnp 
~en they reached Baldoon on September 5th, 1804.38 

The settlement area was not typ1cal of that usually granted 
to settlers in Upper Canada, In contrast to the dense , dark forests 
whtch greeted settlers in the rest of the colony, the Baldoon Farm 
was set on a rich and fertile plain - one of the few in Upper Canada, 
covering almost 1.000 acres . 

To an eye accustomed to the bare rocks and meagre so1ls of 
the Highlands, such an area was an attractive p roposition for farm· 
tng, and Selkirk well knew the agricultural posslbilit tes of swampy 
ground, once it was drained and fenced . Unfortunately for his hopes, 
North American swamps, unlike the bogs of Ireland and the marshes 
of Scotland, breed mosquitos. Malaria was to be one of the b1ggest 
enemies of the scheme of settlement. There was dry ground avail· 
abl · ~ 10 the area of the settlement, but it could not be explo ited 
until the swamps were drained and roads constructed to connect 
Wtth the Chenail Ecarte. 
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CHAPTER IV 

THE EXPERIMENT AS A FAILURE 

The success which appeared assured in June during Sel· 
ktrk's stay at the s1te eluded the colony. It was immediately struck 
by a series of misfortunes from which it never fully recovered. The 
urly dtsasters wh1ch befell the colony were many, and the prime 
cause lay in the site itself. All other causes. although important were 
secondary. Selkirk appreciated the rich sotland the lush, open grass· 
lind\ which today form an integrtl part of one of the finest farm 
areas in north-eastern America, but this land is extremely low. 
marshy and subject to periodic floods. He was not unaware of the 
hmrds created by the periodic rise of the Great Lakes for, as here· 
ported in his diary: 

From se~~erel fec:tors obterved et Ntagert end Oetrolt · it 8J)peers 
tluit the ltkts -re higher fourtHn years ego then they hll'lt 
bten sinct and It tlltt tunt overflowed lands at Ottrott formerly 
cultovattd end now egein dry.1 

Added to the natural disadvantages of undramed flatlands 
were the exceptionally heavy rainfalls of that summer. Will iam 
Hambly. who had been ordered to undertake a survey of the town­
ship of Dover, recorded in h1s diary that from Wednesday 18th July, 
1804, to Wednesday 24th October, 1804, there was scarcely a day 
oo which it dtd not ram.2 McDonell, Selkirk 's farm manager wrote: 

The continued reons have swelltd tht IBtg) Beer CrHk so much 
thet it goves '"own dusky colour to t he rtver ell tilt ""'Y down. 
Tha Wiler in the point of wood where Turner • • • wes cltering is 
kOHdHp.3 

The constant rams hampered the buildtng of houses for the 
settlers and since the two houses already completed by Peter McKee 
were flooded, the settlers, already weakened by their long and ex· 
hlusting journey, were housed in makeshift shelters and tents.4 Mc­
~onell was beset by their pleas for houses Under these conditions 
It was not surprising that he should report to Selkirk that "fevers 
~ave been and are extremely prevalent since the beginning of August 
~, this district, but in no part cf it so much so as at Baldoon. " 5 The 
Incessant rain, combined with mosquito infested marshes and the 
"Noxious vapours•o6 of decaying matter proved insurmountable for 
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the travel-weary settlers and McDonell regretfully reported to Sel­
kirk on the 8th of November, 1804, that fourteen of the original 
settlers had died and that more were likely to follow.1 McDonell be· 
lieved, as d1d most people in Upper Canada at that time, that theft· 
vers were caused by the bad air of low lying swamps and poorly 
drained lands. The real culprit behmd the fevers was the Anopheles 
mosquito which abounded in the marshes of the Chena1l Ecarte and 
St. Clair.8 The fever, which modern medicine 1dentif1es as m1lana, 
continued to take its toll as twenty-two settlers, including ei;,t of 
the anginal f1fteen heads of famll1es were to die by November of 
1805. 

lacking the tools of modern day sc1ence, the settlers were 
unable to meet the challenge of the 1mmed11te environment. Even 
Selkirk's presence could not have made the site a practicable piiCe 
for settlement. However, he would undoubtedly have made the nee· 
essary decisions to reduce the attendant hardships. Unfortunately 
the delays caused by slow communications and the necessity of giv· 
ing extraordinary powers of d1scret1on to the local farm managef ere· 
ated further hardships. It was Selk~rk's misfortune and that of h1s 
settlers that he hired as farm manager a man incapable of providing 
the necessary leadership. Alexander McDone11.9 

As a farm manager, McDonell proved to be incompetent: 
however, he must be 91ven some credit for realising that the s1te wu 
ill-chosen. He pleaded with Selk~rk on numerous occasions to quit 
the area and settle elsewhere, on one occasion wnting: 

Would to HeS~~en my Lord that you had made vour select,on of 
the lands on the A1ver Credit where the pla1ns tho' not so tJtttn· 
11ve as those of Baldoon, are far supenor for sheep pnture. 
where every acre could be d1sposed, every ert1cle f~nd 1 reedy 
merket. 10 

later he added: 
Allow me to entreat of your Lordship to turn your eves to some 
more ehgible part of the prov1nce for settlement for rest •sured 
my Lord, that not one of the prewnt importatiOn will ever •ttle 
at Baldoon. 11 

Although McDonell's appraisal of the site was valid, his utter 
neglect of Selkirk's directions and of the colony's best interests com· 
pounded the disasters, to the detriment of the settlers. His self· 
esteem and his insatiable appetite for security took precedence over 
the administration of the colony, and he spent more time at York in 
search of higher office than he did in Baldoon. Although McDonell 
had agreed to take up residence at Sandwich and to devote the major 
portion of his time to Baldoon 12 the record shows clearly that be­
tween 1804 and 1809 he spen; the larger part of his time at York. 



ALEXANDER McDONELL 

Sheriff of thtt Home District and Fann Manager at Baldoon. 

(J. Ross Robertson Collection) 

Mtttropolitan Toronto Library Board. 
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McDonell h~ been appointed shenff of the HOITII 0 . . 
1792 ltld was • member of the Assembly at y ortt. 13 In F:ct In 
1805, he was elected Spe~ker of the Auembly and thus beca: 
e~en more bound to the capttal.1~ His recent marri~ge •nd theearly 
dtsasters at Baldo~n made York seem more attractive. In 1807, Mc· 
Donell asked Selk1rk if he would agree to release him from h• . h b • ..agen. 
CV m case e o tamed the Receivership of the Provinoe 

Selkirk was indeed will ing and wrote to McOo~IIIS follows· 
I ~rceive end i~ It ha appeerMf to mt lor aome tllllt 1*1 
that your ~~Ions art now to multople that It 11 impoa•blt 
for you to d111ota your lndfVodual attfntoon to my effliu ll'ld M 

connant residenc;e at Beldoon would rtqu<rt 1 sacrifoce of o!Nr 
ObJects more important to your•lf.15 

McDonell did not secure the position he sought and the fear 
of being without a secure II'ICome induced him to make the best o! 
the position he held with selkirk. McDonell's enthusiasm forB~· 
doon increased as his hopes for other employment domoMhed. He 
wrote to Selkirk, upon hearing the news that he had not been II> 
pointed to the Receivership of the province, that matters at Blldoon 
could still be rectified and that he would move his family to the sote 
in the spring of 1809.16 The settlers whom he had previously dfs. 
cribed as "a ·strange set, and not unlike our neighbours the Choppe­
was and Ottawas in their inordinate love of whisky and incorn~ble 
propensity to F ilthyness.'' 17 became "the finest look1ng men" in 
the whole province, 

Lieutenant-General Hunter, from the first, expressed doubts 
to Selkirk on McDonell's ability to manage a settlement. He ack· 
nowledged McDonell's industry and inteyritv but distrusted his 
obstinacy and unaccommodating temper. 9 Time was to prove 
Hunter's view prophetic, as one of McDonell's greatest failings was 
his inability to provide leadership and his constant disagreement 
with those whom he left in charge during his extended trips to Yolt. 

For example during the first winter of 1804.o5. ~en the 
colony was in urge~t need of competent leadership as a re~lt of 

d. · h 1.-.,nted 
the many deaths and continuing unsettled con 1t1ons, e ,...... 
John McDonald not an original settler but from Prince Edward 

1~ 
• • • · · · 1 of McDonell s 

land as overseer dunng hts absence. Selktrk was cnt1ca • petent 
appointment of McDonald whom h~ bP.Iieved to be 1ncDO" · 
Selkirk gave his opinion in a letter dated 31st January, 1806: 

When I learnt that you hed been absent from thl Nttlamlrlt for 
• . - .... ·tutt than Jolin 

so lol"g a penod last wonter w <th no better I SU•m
1 

. . ed ..AArl but the ptrav· 
McDonald to take charge, I ant oc•pat no~~""'"' d.,l 
egance of which he appeers to havt ~en gu•IIY fiO".::V;" ltl"· 
bounds' and I cannot understand how you could 1~' If caplblt 
lng to ~nllmlted a charge In the hands of • man 10 htt 

of lt .:20 
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McOontll vindrcated Selkirk's judgement when he wrote on 

lh!l!ldmber, 1806 
It IIOUid l'oiW been a fortunate ...,.nt for the Mttlement h~ 
.,.. (Jolin) MeDontld left 1t 11 en terl~er penod, He 1ntroducld 
ttPIII of durconttnt, idlt"'r

1 
end perty work, ell of""""'""' w1ll 

now. I em C11t111n, d1MCIP'tr. 
McOonefl was constantly at odds w1th those whom he left 

ctwge. During the winter of 1807 08, Dr. S•ms took over the 
~t of the settlement wtule McDonell was at Vorit . Stms 
~been sent out from Scotland in 1806 by Selkirk to serve as phy· 
IGII for the colony, McDonell reported to Selkirk thlt S•ms was 
M'v IQI!il to m~nagu-.g the bus•ness at Baldoon. However, McDonell 
was to wnte tn 1809: 

I think h1m 1 111\t~n of lb•l ues as 1 mid cal men end ~· 
~ R•vtr St. Cllor. the T~ end hes anulttOt'l II Beldoon 
m4!t '- 1 wry comforttblt income, but h 1 apathy end tor· 
110t 1r1 beyond belief lnd h•t mode of hVtng slft9UIIf' end un• 
blcomlllf 1 111111 of I'IIIICQU rements 22 

Unple151nt lfguments also took pltce between McDonell 
fld the ilepherds, Johnson and M1tchell : both men tventually left 
tbt settlement. M1tchell who returned to England, complamed dir· 
!C'IIy to Selk1rk, and McDonell in his letter of explanatiOn to the 
E~~t dtd not mince words u he described Mitchell: 

H., PfOC)tntlty to hquor can only be equellld by h11 utt~r diS· 
"'l'd of truth ,.,niCh IS proverblll in the wttlement , • , h •• low 
Cllllrlint and .,ooth mtnner of ldclrHS1ng htmt~lf 1 mtstoolt tor 
IOOd natllftd ftlllllty , , , he IS I m- of dtctptiOn lnd totally 
II'Qcllble of d•ICIIIriJing the trust """'iCh it wes 1ntended should 
be piiCJid in hi111 23 

h' In .llnuary 1810, McDonell evidently in an attempt to cover 
~~own shortcomings, abandoned his briefly·held good opinions of 
"" settltl'l 

With the lllctpt f h 
d •on o t r11 Of four femlhn they ere the most 
~~~lrrtltOmt, SC>Ongtng, indolent , of env peoole In 
lhtm but,-,! 1 hllve reputedly mldt up d•fftrences between 
...... • ...... 

1 '"'I there Is no tnd to their treys I hiYe It length 
_,. ..... t I will Ptrse1111 do 
ter '""<<ns 

11 
Sa • • 111 I fig , b•nd them over to the quw· 

~•stie tJtploi ndw•ch. The McOougells ere pre .. minent It PUV· 
who IS 

11 
•nd tilt IUthor of most bro1ls p1rt1culerlv Allen 

tewn ~~~t'ltu fellow, lnd who hes ~n the ceuse thet 
ion r.tet 24 mself, mlde their IPPelflnce It lest Ouertt; ~s y , 

A second factor h'ch 
lnC:e th~n even McD ' ~ 1. ~~s undoubtedly of gruter import· 
utter disrtg~rd f ~~el! 5 rnab•lrty to provide leadership was his 
~!'fed the cala .or ~lklrk's instruct ions. When Selkirk first re· 
he · mltous news of th de h 

Immediately w M 8 at s of so many of his settlers 
rote cDonell advising him to move the settler~ 
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~o either the forks of Big Be1r Creek (the present site of Wlllacebu ) 
~~ the Shawnee township or to the River St. Cl1ir.25 McDonell ~ 
h1s r~t~rn to t_he settlement in the lpfing of 1805, believed that'the 
cond1t1ons whtch led to the diusters of 1804 no longtr existed and 
II the settlers 1ppe1red to be on the rold to recoverv he dtc'ded ' 
h' . . ,, ' 00 

IS own IUth<?"tty not to remove them to hellthier lands. The fe-
vers returned tn the summer and more senlers died, McDonell tiler! 
proceeded, at Selkirk's expense, to move the ftnulies to Sandwich 26 

Selkir* who was genuinely concerned with the welf1rt of his settl~rs 
agreed with McDonell's dectslon Is they would then rective medQl 
Clre. However. he repe1ted his view th1t ultimately the settlers 
should be moved to the ShiWnee township. 

The southern boundary of the Shtwnee Township, which 
commenced at the first font of the Chenail Ecarti' and ran due east 
until it met the Thames River, hid been established by the McKee 
Tre1ty, 1790.27 Selkirit's Home Farm loated in the nOI'th·westof 
Dover township abutted a portion of the southern boundary of the 
ShiWnee Tr.c:t. The boundary line beclme known as the lndi"' 
line. 

Under the terms of the second McKee Trelty, 1797, an area 
1pproxim1tely twelve mtles square north of the lnd1an Line of 1790 
and eat of the St. Clair WIS surrendered by the Chippewa chiefs to 
His Majesty. King George Ill for approximlttly £1KXl Quebec curr· 
ency In trlde goods It Montreal prices.411 Tht lind purchased bt· 
ame known IS the Shawnee township lnd ewntu1lly by the pment 

Nmt, Ch1tNin GOfe. 
Selk rtt h.t no reason to suppose that his request to move 

the wttlen ' nto the Shlwnee tOWnshiP would meet with any DPPO· 
Slt•on for in August 1804, he hid bro.c:hed the subject to Lieutenlllt· 
GQ¥'1mor Hunter. who at thlt t1me h«1 no doubts thlt the land 

could be obtained. 
G-.1 Hunm • • •• ~ townlhiP ·~eM be detemlinld 
tall peper1 of l...t1an o.p.nmant come frorn L~ Caned~ · 
purc:N..cl 1796 • known no rigtll in Indo., I lnd will be ~eel 
• 1110ther • but beller not 8PPIV till Settlers mOB come u•. • 
promaws no other lhall Interfere, 6 hal no doUbt Gov. • 111 

grent 29 
Selkirk believed that the ltnds within Dover could not be 

made healthy until the marshes of the neighbouring islands we~e 
drained. He therefore, through McDonell, asked Hunter for I~~~~ 

• h '..hbourtll9 IS· 
the Shawnee township and the right to dratn t 1_ ntlw• ised 
lind marshes Both requests were refused and Selktrk was su~dat 
and vexed at. Hunter's decision. Hunter, in a letter to. McOone ~ 
ed 24th May, 1805, stlted that the Shawnee townshiP was rese 
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~lilt lndi.,s.JO As a reSlllt of Hunter's dectsion and the death~ of 

10 m~nv of h1s settlers, Selk1rk dec1ded in November 1805 to aban· 
im the settlement s1te temporanly and he dtrected McDonell to 
~chast two or three cleared farms on the Thames R 1ver where the 
11utrl .ould be kept together. but independently work ing thetr 
In! on shares.31 

McDonell, who had spent the wmter of 1805 06 at York, dtd 
i10t mike Sellwk's plan known to the settlers until Aprtl 1806 The 
lliJOr,ty of the settlers were tn favour of Selkirk's proposal, but 
iljin McDonell personally overruled the maJonty and decided to 

Se k • . 31 
'~ B.Jidoon another chance in the face of lk tr s tnstructtons. 

Francis Gore replaced Hunter as the Lieutenant·Governor of 
Upper Canada in June 1806 and Selk irk had reason to believe that 
Gortwould be more amenable to the Earl's earl ier proposals regard· 
fiJ the draming of the 1sland marshes and the acquisition of land in 
llie Shawnee township. Selkirk therefore told McDonell that it 
"'Uid be best to remove the settlers to the Shawnee townsh'fj 
~y,~ up the idea of the move to the three lots on the Thames, 
Once CJ9atn McDonell believed that it was not necessary to move the 
people as the summer of 1806 had passed Without a return of malar· 
i illd he therefore satd nothtng to the settlers about the prospect of 

1110'11ng to the Shawnee townshtp.34 

Further evidence of McDonell's neglect of tnstruct ions was 
'ndtcated by his petit ton in June 1809. to the Council of Upper Can· 
ada to surrender the wet lots along the Chenail Ecarte in return for 
'ind elsewhere.

35 
Thts act ton was diametncally opposed to Selk trk 's 

OWl! Wtshes, as the Earl had repeatedly informed McDonell that the 
Nrsh lands were of great value and should be permanently retatned . 

A further instance of McDonell 's failure to carry out his inst· 
riiC1IOflS IS shown by his failure to submit h1s expenses in the manner 
OUtlined by Selkirk. Repeatedly, Selk trk ordered McDonell to keep 
eareful account of the colony's financ1al affars, yet McDonell, out of 
9'0fance or by des1gn, completely failed to carry out this basic ad· 
rntntstrative procedure In a letter of the 3rd May 1808 Selkirk 
wrote mstrucf • • 
k IOns to McDonell to let the Farm on shares and to 
eep the expenses to a minimum. 36 And further: 

I have also r 
lht b epeatedly 1ns1sted on your trensmittmg to me at 

'll•nnong of tach year e d1St1nct and prec1se est1mete of 'thl! 
t•Ptnses to be incurred: tho' the omission of th1s is f'IO new 
«=~use of compta t · . · 
rona •n vet It IS extremely irksome to f1nd that no 
..... to tton of or de 

POont. 37 rs can •nduce you to attend to that ~sential 

Althou~t~ Selk' k 
comptet d' " was an extremely patient man, McDonell's 

e ISregard for these instructions compelled him to write 
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that this act htd: 
E11cited my displeewre in • hlghet' degr• then ll'lything whiCh 
~·• occurred since I hed concerns en Upper C.ntdl, not except· 
mg even the unperelltled utrevllgllf>Ce whoch prev111ed in the 
veers 1804 05. The plen of meneu-ment which 1 trii'IIITIIttld to 
you on 3rd Mev. 1804, eppeers to be set completely et nought 
though It could not ~ Jaour obtervetions thet 1 plec. •lit 
lmport•nce to thet meaege. 

Selkirk ordered McDonell to come to England to explain his 
actions and appointed Thomas Clark, his agent at Oueenston, to 
audit McDonell's records at Baldoon. Clark reported that llthat41 
McDonell's book-keeping was irregular, there were no si!P'IS of dis· 
honesty. However, it was his belief that if McDonell hid spent more 
time at Baldoon there would not have been the enormous financial 
waste which had occurred.39 

Bad management notwithstanding, it was nature which pro­
vided the most refractory problems for the settlement. In lddit1on 
to the troobles caused by malaria, the colony suffered further hard· 
ships as the sheep which were to be the mainstay of the fledgling 
community fared poorly in the early years. In May, 1805, McDonell 
reported that the sheep had suffered from scab and that a number 
had already died and more were likely to follow.~ Rattlesnakes 
and roving packs of wolves also accounted for 1 number of the sheep, 
and to make matters worse, crops failed in 1804 and 1805. In the 
fall of 1804, McDonell reported that: 

The torrents of rein which fell during the months of Septtmbtf 
end Octobet' inundated the Pleins on the Little Beer Creek to 
wch e degree thet it will be impi"ICticeble to get tt the hey 
which has bNn necked there until the frost sets ln . The smell 
crop of Pees, Barley end Oats near the garden tho' cut end stiCk· 
ed hes been destroyld .• 1 

Nature reversed her role in 1805. McDonell indicated that 
little could be said of the crops, for this year they had suffered as a 
result of summer drought.42 

The death of William Bum and Peter McDonald in the fall of 
1804 caused further grief as these two men could have filled the lea­
dership vacuum created by McDonell's ineptitude and absence. Burn 
was an extremely good shepherd who had been highly recommended 
to Selkirk by William Mure, the Earl's estate Manager at K•rk~ 
bright and McDonald had been in charge of the settlers during the~r 
stay at Kirkcudbright and during their voyage to Baldoon. 

Dr. Sims, who was relieved of his duties in 1809. foresaw 
further difficulties for the colony when he predicted that if war were 
to break oot between the United States and Great Britain, the Am· 
ericans would raid the settlement and try to carry off the sheeP at 
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Bldoon.43 Sim's prediction came true, for the War in 1812 brou\1lt 

AmerJCan troops to Baldoon 
Th1s is not the place to discuss the origins or the course of 

t~~e War of 1812. It 1s suffic1ent to say that the 8aldoon settlement 
was a wictim of Great Power squabbles in which it had no part and 
of which its inhabitants knew little. The ramif1cations of interna· 
nONI qu.rrels made the British North American colonies the enem· 
Is of the United States, and the march of the American frontier to 
the Midligan Territory made the settlement a convenient and tempt· 
·ng target. 

Captain Robert Forsyth, m July, 1812, commanding a small 
lllil111a unit, pillaged the homes of the settlers as well as the Farm. 
Sarow1ch at that time had been occup1ed by the Americans under 
General Hull and Forsyth returned to Sandwich w1th a "small herd 
of cattle, nearly 1,000 sheep, and accompanted by the settlement's 
¥9! boat and ten small ones laden with gra1n, flour and other 
booty".44 It was later rumoured that Hull, who removed the sheep 
to Detroit, sold a large number of them for his personal benefit. The 
fortunes of Baldoon rose and fell with British fortunes on the Detroit 
R1~er. The capture of Detroit by Brock led to the return to Baldoon 
of many of the sheep, through the interventiOn of Col. Matthew 
Elliot, of the Indian Department, who knew of thetr ownersh1p,45 

b.n a number were killed and eaten by the army. In October 1814, 
the American General McArthur and 750 of his men took control of 
Baldoon but there was not the plunder attending with this raid as 
that ofthe prev1ous one in 1812.46 

Selkirk's interest in Baldoon waned as he became more deep­
ly 1n•olved in his Iaten settlement venture at Red River. Following 
the war of 1812. the Baldoon Farm was leased to a W1lliam Jones. In 
1818. Selkirk returned to the area, not to visit his settlement at Bal­
doon, but to stand trial at the Fall Ass1zes of the Western District 
at Sandwich. Selkirk's Red River settlement had been continually 
~rauec:~ by. agents of the North West Company and Metis. The 
~aument Intensified and resulted in the massacre of Governor 
Th· ~letld some 20 Red River settlers at Seven Oaks (Manitoba). 

f IS 10 umane act provoked a furious Selkirk to administer his own 
orm of rough · t . A p Jus 1ce. rmed with a commission as Justice of the 
~.ace for Upper Canada and the Indian territory and accompanied 
wy il small corps f d' b . • . North W o IS anded sold1ers he took possess1on of the 
attem t~st Company's Fort William. Deputy Sheriff W. Smith 
Or DP .d :. arrest 4~1kirk at the Fort on a charge of riot 1ssued by 
tr~~v1. !tchell. Selkirk refused to recognise the charge and 

It With utter contempt. A further warrant was issued by 



R~idence of Jamn Baby, S.ndwich, U.C. 

This dwt!lling was er«tt!!d 11bout 1790 by tht! Hon. Jamn Baby, Legisl11t1ve Councillor. Tht! Headquarrers of Gen. 
Hull when ht! invaded C8nada in 1812. Sutn.quenrly occupied by Gen. Brock, Col. Proctor and Gen. Haffison. 

(J. Ross Robertson Coll«tion - Metropolitan Toronto Library Board) 
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FriiCOIS Blby at S.ndwldl charging Selkirk and 9 othen for tak1ng 
proptrty Ulegllly from the North West Company.' Selkirk was ad 
fad b¥ cl011 friends to lewe the country 1mmed1ately throu~ the 
\)llttd State. Influential people in Upper Canada, primarily those 
IIIIo IUPP()ned the fur trlde were he.vily ~aenst him, and it was un­
rektly that he would receive a fair hearmg. The Earl d ism1ssed the 
..a.lntlfltioned pleas of his freends. He was a Nobleman, a symbol 
of 8r;t1~ Justict - how could he not submit to Brit1sh Rule of 
L.-? 

The Attorney-Genertl, John Beverly Robinson. after the init­
li dlllll of riSist~nCe to arrest • nst Selk erk was dism lssed. group­
Ill all other charges under the general heading of "conspiracy to 
llljultlnd destroy the trade of the North West Co. "48 Judge Powell 
llljoumed the caw Sine Die. a 1~1 procedure to adjourn to an in­
dlfinite time. This legal dev•ce 1s often used in cases where the judge 
lllliMs there is intufficient evidence to proceed further. Hamil sugg­
IIU 'OWIII Ulld this particular legal manoeuvre to prevent any fur­
._ llnblrr~S~ment to Robinson. The charges were eventually 
*apped. 

On SePtember 17, 1818, wh1le at Sandwich, Selkirk sold the 
finn to John McNab for approximately $2,225. The Farm was 
Mntuallyreold It public auction to James Wood and William Jones. 
Two of the lots on the Th~mes River were also sold to James Wood 
Mel the remaining lot to Dr. Robert Richardson of Sandwich. Sel­
klr\'s rern.ming lands in Dcwer were finally sold in 1832 to Thomas 
Clartt, hiS agent It Oueenston.48 With the transaction of 1818 the 
llnlement may be said to hwe disappeared. 

S.lkirt's experiment at Baldoon has usually been described 
~ ... ill-fated venture and a failure, hav1ng played a relatively insig­
lllfant rolt in the growth of Kent, and Lamb ton Counties. Or. 
Gear,. Bryce, in The Life of Lord Selkirk referred to Baldoon as a 
~ andJi~issed the settlement as ten- years of most disappoint­
. .. Mnts, With no comment as to the ultimate success or failure 
of the ltttltrs. Gray in Lord Selkirk of Red River described Baldoon 
• "a d11Chlbatross"51 about Selkirk's neck and "of his three settle­:u · his -~'" dreams • only the first was ending as it should. Bal­
rAto.nswas flneshed, 1 miser1ble f1ilure."52 Gray,like Bryce, did not 

the f1te of the settlers lnd their influence on the surrounding .... 
S..'r~t•Dr. Fred Htmil, in his fine unpublished manuscript Lord 
~Work in Upper Canada, The Story of Baldoon, said th1t the 
Cine" t It ~aldoon, "intended IS the nucleus of 1 much gre1ter 

._destined "to extinction after a series of heart-breaking dis-
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appointments . •. "53 Hamil, unlike the writers previously mention· 
eel, does mention the fact that many of the settlers moved north­
wards to the Gore of Chatham which was then part of the old Shaw 
nee township. However, he concludes his work on Selkirk by stating 
that "Selkirk's work in Upc:'r Canada met with little success. and 
has largely been forgotten." 

The settlers, however, remained and a distmction must be 
made between the failure of the settlement as a site and the success 
of the settlement in terms of the ultimate future of the settlers. The 
settlement site was indeed abandoned for a time but the settlers re· 
mained and provided the nucleus of many successful farming com­
munities in Kent and Lambton Counties. 
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CHAPTER V 

THE EXPERIMENT AS A SUCCESS 

The majority of the settlers clung stubbornly to their fifty 
acre lots on Big Bear Creek until the Shawnee township, surveyed 
in 1821 by Thomas Smith, was opened for settlement in 1822.1 

Somet1me around 1822, Laughlan McDougall, son of John and 
Sarah McDougall, secured from the Crown lot 13, 2nd Concess1on 
of Chatham Gore2 at the forks of Big Bear Creek, less than a mile 
upstream, and thus became Wallaceburg's first settler. 

Lionel Johnson and his son-in-law, James Stewart, in 1809 
had obtained an illegal Indian deed to land at the forks and temp· 
orarily squatted at the site;3 however, McDonell petit1oned the 
lieutenant-Governor for their removal as Selkirk had his own de· 
signs on the area. Johnson moved to lot 3, 1st Concess•on of 
Sombra township at a sharp bend in the Chenail Ecarte, wh1ch to· 
day is referred to as Johnson's Bend.4 Stewart settled on lot 2, 
1st Concession, Sombra township.5 

McDougall opened a multi-purpose building which servtd 
as a trading-post, tavern and dwelling place. This building fronted 
on Wallace Street approximately where the Liquor Control Board 
of Ontario store stands today. He later opened a hostelry across 
the street which became famous "for its three cent swipes of 
whisky, and from the effects of which not a few free brawls were 
instituted.'.6 The McDougalls were well known for the1r pug· 
nacity. 

In 1834, laughlin launched the schooners Wallace and 
Selkirk,7 the first of many ships to be built at Wallaceburg.lnter· 
estingly enough, Selkirk in his early instructions to McDonell 
suggested that the Baldoon settlement would need the serv1ces of 
a "shallop" and felt that McDougalls, with a good shipwri!tlt to 
superintend them, could handle the project, and that Allan Me· 
Dougall would serve as captain.8 

Archibald and Hector McDougall soon followed thetr bro· 
ther's lead and took up land across the river from Laughlin on the 
north side of Big Bear Creek east of the Point.9 The Point is the 



THE ENERGY 

Srt!amer owned by Willi~tm S. and J~ttr~IIS McLe~~n. Malcolm McDonald m•ster, Built by W1lli¥TJ Tl.ylor at Wallactt· 
burg, 1883. Broken up at Amh.rstburg, 1915. 

(Mr. Frank M~~nn Collttction). 
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property situated at the confluence of the north and east 
branches of Big Bear Creek where the Canadian l egion building 
stands today. The McDougall family eventually established a 
flourishing lumber business on their property. The first registered 
cemetery in Wallaceburg, known as the McDougall Cemetery, was 
established on this side of the river and today is marked by 1 

simple cairn on Water Street.10 

The McDougalls were soon joined by other Baldoon set· 
tier~. H~r' McCa~lum obtained the south half of lot 12, 2nd Con· 
cess1on. He butlt a frame house on the property in which he 
taught school. Selkirk had visualized the need for a school for his 
original settlement and Hu~ McCallum was his intended school· 
master. 12 Son of Donald and Mary McCallum, Hugh became in 
1834 the settlement's first postmaster. The settlement, known as 
"The Forty Thieves" and "The Forks" eventually adopted the 
name Hugh gave to the post office • Wallacebu~. in honour of 
S1r William Wallace, Scotland's ~reat patriot.1 The name was 
later naturalized as Wallaceburg 4 by dropping the peculiarly 
Scottish "h" 

Hect~r Mclean settled lot 12. 2nd Concession, in 1830.
15 

He lived on the northern portion of the lot in the approximate 
area where today Nelson Street crosses Running Creek. The 
southern portion of the lot which now comprises most of down· 
town Wallaceburg remained dense bush. 

Hector McDonald at a later period, 1840, opened a boarding 
house on present-day Nelson Street where he dispensed hospitality 
on strictly temperance principles. 16 

laughlin McDougall instituted the first survey · the Eberts 
Surve~ • in 1833. This was followed by the McCallum survey in 
1836. 7 On the north side of the river, James Baby who settled on 
lot 12, 2nd Concession, initiated the Baby Survey.

18 
During the 

next forty years many other surveys and sub-divisions were begun, 
bearing Highland names such as McDonald, Mclean and McDougall. 
thus indicating the impact of the Baldoon settlers on the commun· 
ity.19 

The Baldoon settlers who settled at "The Forks" were joined 
at an early stage by families not directly connected with the original 
settlement. John McGregor, for valued service in the War of 1812 
received a grant of 850 acres chiefly in the 1st Concession.

20 Ja~s 
Baby, previously mentioned, settled on lot 12, 2nd Concesston. 
George little, who married Hannah McDougall, a Baldoon dr,cend· 
ant settled east of "The Forks" on the north bank on lot 18. Foil· 
owing 1860, the Hay, Beattie, Forhan, Fraser, and Scott families 
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entered the area, joinmg other non Baldoon settlers who had recen~ 
preceeded them, the Judsons, Steinhoffs. Pattersons and Clancys 

As the community grew in size the business and Industr ial 

1nterests kept pace. Lionel H. Johnson. son of James and Margaret 
(McCallum) Johnson, purchased property located within the Baby 
Survey, lot 4,23 site of the present cenotaph. Here he erected a 
frame house and opened a blacksmith's shop.24 Eventually he ex· 
tended his business to include a store, the first to be built on the 
north·west angle of the forks. This land today forms a portion of the 
business sect ion of James Street, Wallaceburg's princ1pal thorough­
fare. Henry E. Johnson, son of Lionel, took a course at a commercial 
college in Toronto and returned to operate his father's store.25 He 
l'tas later appomted the community's first Dominion Telegraph agent, 
a position he held until 1884. In 1898 he became librarian of the 
JXJbl1c library wh1ch was located on the north-east lower floor of the 
town hall. The building was less than ideal, for the local fire hall. 
contained within the same walls. created sufficient din with each fire 
alarm to unnerve the staunchest reader. In 1908. the present library 
located on lots 1 and 2 of the Baby survey was opened with Mr 
Johnson as chief librarian.26 Like many libraries of the day it was 
l1nanced through the munif1cence of a Carneg1e grant. 

Calvert and Hugh Stonehouse, sons of Hugh and Margaret 
(McDougall) Stonehouse extended the dry goods and grocer~ store 
establ1shed in 1879 by their grandfather R.S. Stonehouse.2 The 
store. situated at the corner of Wallace and McDougall Street was 
destroyed by fire in 1892; however, a brick building erected on the 
same lot replaced the former frame building and stands today. 

In 1905. Baldoon descendant Herb McDougall, together with 
two promment c1t1zens of Wallaceburg, D.A. Gordon and Herb 
Burgess, headed a local group wh1ch incorporated the Wallaceburg 
Brass and Iron Manufactunng Company.28 In April 1933, the firm 
changed its name to Wallaceburg Brass Ltd.29 

Somet1me around 1926 Mormon Irwin a son of John and 
Naomi (Mom son) Irwin established a chain of 5c and 1 Oc stores 
throu~t~out Kent County known as M1rwin's Ltd. The stores were 
~entually sold, some to the Metropolitan cham.30 

Eric McDonald, son of Delos and Ella McDonald and a great­
great grandson of Angus McDonald Sr., established his own company, 
Mac Craft, wh1ch built pleasure craft. During the Second World War, 
the firm produced Fairmiles for the Canad1an Navy. Following the 
war he established Mac Construction which has built numerous 
~ildings in Kent County, including the additions to the local hosp­
Ital and library.31 
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The Baldoon settlers as loyal subjects offered their services to 
the Crown when the nat1onal security of Canada was threatened. 
Hugh McCallum32 and Angus McDougall took part in the War of 
1812.33 It has been reported that McCallum saw action at the battle 
of the Thames where Tecumseh, Bntam's ally, was mortally wound­
ed. 

Hugh McCallum saw further action in the Rebell1on of 1837-
38 as did Hector McDougall, who served as captain of one of the 
local military companies. L1onel H. Johnson left his stud1es at the 
old Upper Canada Academy

1 
now V1ctoria College, and returned 

home to jom the local militia. 5 

Many of the descendants of the Baldoon settlers took part in 
the two World Wars of the twentieth century. Two returning service­
men from World War II, Cal and Fred Duchene. descendants of Allan 
Mclean. together w1th Harold Martin, organized the fund-ra1s1ng 
campaign for a local arena which led to the erection, in 1948. of the 
Wallaceburg Memonal Arena.36 

In recognit1on of the town's industrial contribution to the 
War effort. in which the Wallaceburg Brass Co. Ltd., took a promin­
ent part, a Canadian corvette received the name H.M.C.S. Wallace­
~n - - -

The Baldoon settlers also played active roles in mumcipal 
and county affairs. Lionel H. Johnson distinguished himself in local 
ll0ht1cs as he was chosen to represent the Gore of Chatham, then a 
part of Sombra township, on the District Council of Essex, Kent and 
Lambton. In 1849, he was elected chairman of the Kent Provisional 
Council and served his township and county in various capacities. as 
Reeve, Deputy Reeve and Warden for over twenty-five years.38 

Henry Johnson, h1s son, served for a t1me as the town clerk of 
Wallaceburg. Hugh McCallum, as prev1ously mentioned, served as 
Wallaceburgh's first postmaster. D. B. McDonald, son of Neil and 
Flora McDonald, was the local postmaster at the time of Wallace­
burg's incorporation as a village in 1874.39 The Reeve at the time of 
InCorporation was Alexander McDougall and W. J. McDonald served 
as a council member. 

Alexander McDougall became the local attorney in 1857.40 

A nephew of Laughlin and son of John and Mary McDougall, he 
erected an office on the same property on which his uncle Laughlin 
had established his hostelry, which had been destroyed by fire. Alex­
ander's office was in turn burned to the ground, reportedly by irate 
~tel owners frustrated with McDougall's strict enforcement of the 
'-4nada Temperance Act 1878.4 1 The outline of the office foun­
dation can still be seen today in front of the apartment occupied by 



Corner of James and Duncan Streets. 

Wallaceburg's Main lnterstH:tion, c. 1903. 

(Mr. Frank Mann Collection.) 



RtJSidence of John T. McDon.ld, c. 1850 

(Mr. FrM'Ik Mann ColltK:tion). 
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his grand-daughter, Frieda McDougall. 
Since 1896 when Captain J . Steinhoff was elected Wallace· 

burg's first mayor, four Baldoon descendants have held the town's 
highest office; J . W. McDonald, 1909-10; C. S. Stonehouse, 1g29. 
30: J.Eric McDonald, 1944 and 1950: l . Stonehouse 1g76-78_42 

Chester McGregor, 1911-12; W. J. McDonald 1917-19· 43 • • 
Frank C. Nightingale, 1950; all Baldoon descendants, served as 
Reeves of Wallaceburg and the previously mentioned W.J . McDonald 
served as Deputy Reeve in 1914-15, as d1d C. S. Stonehouse in 
1926.44 

The foregoing record of the contribution made by the in· 
div•duals previously cited to the founding and growth of Wallaceburg 
is by no means exhaustive. Other Baldoon descendants were to per· 
form valuable service as town councillors, teachers and as members 
of various civic and county boards. The full impact of the Baldoon 
settlers and their descendants can never be fully measured but Wall· 
aceburg's earliest begmnings and development owe an enormous 
debt to the courage and perseverance of the Selkirk settlers in the 
face of so many hardships. 

Not all the Baldoon settlers took up residence at 'The forks" 
but a large number of them took to homesteading in the 1mmed1ate 
area where they contributed greatly to the development of the agri· 
cultural economy of north Kent and south lambton. 

Angus McDonald, only son of Donald and Margaret MeDon· 
aid, apprenticed himself early in life to a tannery in Amherstburg. 
Following his apprenticeship, he took up land 1n c. 1817 in Sombra 
township, bounded on the north by the present Ward line and on 
the south by the french line.45 This property today consists of a 
large part of the village of Port Lambton. Angus opened the first 
tannery on the St. Clair River and became one of the leadmg figures 
in the growth and development of Port Lambton. Through necessity 
he became Sombra township's first schoolteacher. He bUilt a small 
log cab1n next to his home where he taught h1s many children. In 
later years many of his neighbours started sending their children to 
Angus to be taught reading, writing and arithmetic. The descend· 
ants of the Angus McDonald family today live on both sides of the 
St. Clair River which forms the boundary between the State of Mich· 
igan and the Province of Ontario. 

The Donald Taylor McDonald family moved a short distance 
upstream on the Chenail Ecart' where th~ rece1ved in 1842 a grant 
of land being lot B of the 4th Concession. John McDonald, eldest 
son of Donald, received in 1826 a grant of land in lot A, 4th Con· 
cession.47 It was on this lot that John built a home which became 
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the focus of the "Baldoon Mystery".48 The Baldoon Ghost or Pol· 
ttrgr1st caused tables to fly through the air. fires to appear and dis· 
appear and other strange phenomena. The McDonalds for a short 
penod of time enjoyed great notoriety as hundreds of cur~ous people 
came great distances w1th the hope of see1ng the Polterge1st at work. 
Mr. Frank Mann, a long t1me res1dent of the area and an amateur 
historian. believes that the happenmgs began as the result of a fued 
between the Buchanan fam1ly and the McDonalds. It was only a 
short time after John McDonald refused to sell h1s property to a 
member of the Buchanan family that the phenomena occurred. The 
canny McDonalds used these happenmgs to great advantage: the Me· 
Donald home became one of the area's earl1est tounst attractions 
and they were never ones to look a gift horse in the mouth. 

The enterpris1ng Duncan McDonald, a brother of John and 
son of Donald, eventually secured both his father's and brother's 
property as well as add1t1onal land 1n the 6th Concess1on of Sombra 
townst11p.

49 
These extens1ve holdmgs were willed in turn to his 

many relatives. A portion of this property IS today owned by the 
Stewart family, also Baldoon descendants. 

Hector Brown, son of Donald and Marion Brown, received a 
grant of land from the Crown bemg the north part of the south half 
of lot A~ and the north part of the south half of lot 1 in the Jrd 
Concess1on of Sombra township. 51 In 1826 he sold this property to 
his brother, Alexander, for 1.30.52 In add1t1on to the land already 
rnent1oned, Hector Brown also rece1ved from the Crown in 1837, in 
lieu of h1s brother Ne•l who had died, the north half of lot 1, 3rd 
Concess1on of Sombra township.53 Hector became prominent in 
local P<>lit1cs serving for four years on the township council. A skill· 
ed orator, he became the local preacher, well known for his "fire 
and brimstone" sermons. 

Alexander Brown rece1ved a grant of land in 1837 consisting 
of the north half of lot A in the 3rd Concession of Sombra town· 
ship.

54 
As mentioned above, Alexander purchased his brother Hec· 

tor's property in 1 B26. 

Alexander T. McDonald, son of John and Nancy McDonald, 
!pent his early years on his father's farm. However, like so many of 
the Baldoon descendants, he took to sailing on the Great Lakes for 
several years before returning home to marry and to commence farm· 
•ng in Sombra township. About 1869 he moved to Wallaceburg 
where he opened a highly successful grocery store. In 1881 he built 
the ~'!{ge Gondola which operated between Detroit and Wallace· 
burg. 



Rnid~n~ of Hector McDon•ld, c. 1860. 

(Mrs. Bmy StiiWllrt Coll«:tion). 
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The John Buchanan family took u~land on the north bank 
of 81g Bear Creek in the 19th Concess1on . Dunng the butldtng of 
thtlddition to the Heinz factory in Wallaceburg, the Buchanan fam­
ily burial plot was d iscovered. The headstone of Catherine Buchanan, 
wtft of Robert Clark, was the only one to be preserved and is now 
Situated on the Clark homestead. 

The majority of the Baldoon settlers were either Roman 
c.tholic or Presbytertans of the Church of Scotland, but on coming 
to Canada many of the protestants became Methodists. Somet•me 
around 1812, the Wesleyans from the Thames Circu1t established 
two lppOintments, one on the upper Chenail Ecarte and the other 
on the lower Chenail Ecarte. The congregations united in 1842 and 
bu1lt a log church on the farm of James Stewart.57 Robert Brown, 
Hector T. McDonald, John Buchanan and H. McDonald, all Baldoon 
stttlers became staunch supporters of this Wesleyan congregation. 

John Morrison, upon leavmg the Baldoon settlement took up 
property on Strumness Island, lake St. Clatr. In 1830, he sold a por­
tion of his land to Robert Brown59 and eventually leased the re-. ~ 
ma1nder to a James Cartwright and moved to the mamland. He 
•ttled on land located on the north branch of B1g Bear Creek wh1ch 
he in turn sold and finally took up fermanent residence on lot 11, 
15th Conceuion, Chatham township. 1 Edwin and Charles Morrison, 
sons of John, opened a highly successful grist mill on the east branch 
of Big Bear Creek . In time the small village of Tupperville grew up 
around the mill. The descendants of the Morrisons have remained in 
the Tupperville/Dresden area where they are engaged principally in 
f~tming. 

The John McKenzie family elected to settle on the Baldoon 
Road in Dover townsh1p on lot 40.62 This family suffered greatly 
from an outbreak of Black Diptheria and only one member, Daniel, 
a grandson of John McKenz1e, survived. The local residents buried 
the family on the homestead and the cemetery was still in existence 
at the turn of the century. However, as the farm changed hands the 
cemetery was eventually plougl}ed under w1th the headstones 
thrown Into a nearby dredge cut.63 The descendants of Daniel Mc­
Kenzie still reside in Dover township but the McKenzie name has 
been apparently lost. 

One of the more colourful descendants of the Baldoon set· 
tiers was "Black Hawk" McDougall, whose career was almost a par­
~Y of a Wild West scenario. McDougall was head of the Missouri, Ill· 
10015 and Eastern Trading Company, a grand1ose title masking a well· 
organised horse rustling scheme. McDougall and his business partners 
stole horses in the American Midwest and drove them around Detroit 
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to the shores of lake St. Clair where they were loaded into the hold 
of a steam scow, whose legal deck load of timber hid the more prof· 
itable cargo below.64 After crossmg lake St. Clair, they were trans­
ported up the Chenail Ecarte and the Sydenham River, and then off. 
loaded on an isolated farm north of Wallaceburg. The brands on the 
horses were changed and they were driven to a place known then as 
Poplar Maze between Mount Brydges and london, and sold to pro­
fessional horse traders. McDougall's career as a rustler was brou~t 
to an end when he was captured, tned and sentenced, in 1848. to 
eight years imprisonment in Kingston penitentiary. 

As an experiment in planned colonization, Baldoon fa1led . 
This is history's judgement, and no amount of dwelling on the heroic 
efforts of the settlers can alter it. Nature and human weaknesses 
combined to doom the experiment from the outset. The hopes of 
lord Selkirk were too sanguine and the labours of the settlers too ill· 
managed to provide more than the meagre portion of success Bal· 
doon actually achieved. But nature and mismanagement only killed 
an experiment: many of the settlers died because of condit•ons at 
Baldoon, but others remained in the area to begin farming on their 
own, as the United Empire loyalists had done a generation before, 
and as tens of thousands of immigrants were to do in the decades 
to come. 

The settlers left Baldoon, but the movement was not a 
diaspora. They remained in the area to cut down the bush and dram 
the marshes, and 1n so doing they turned a wilderness into one of the 
richest mixed-farming areas in North America. This in itself was a 
triumph over adversity; despite their hardships and almost unbear· 
able disappointments, the people of Baldoon refused to be beaten by 
their misfortunes. They survived and they prospered: of pioneers, no 
more need be asked. 

As for Selk1tk he died a disappointed man at Pau, France in 
1820. Few reformers faced with the realities of the world they Wish· 
ed to improve, could hope for complete success in their ventures. 
Selkirk suffered the common fate of most visionaries who try to 
realize their dreams: his success was partial, his detractors many, and 
disappointment affected his health. But, as a practical-minded re­
former, he deserves far greater recognition and credit, especially in 
Canada and his native Scotland, for trying to better the lot of that 
small portion of mankind which was within his power to help. 
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1967. 

Miss Fnedl McDougell, WeiiiCiburg, Ontario,wmnwr 1967. 

Mr. Chert~ McKenzie, Petrolie, Onterio, summer 1967 

Mrs. Nore McKenz ... Mitchells Bey, Ontario. eutumn 1967. 



.. 
Mr. "- MciC8NII, O.W. IOIMIIhlp, Kent County, 0nwto _,_ 
~. . 

Mr. 0111 Mea....., ............... Onwlo, eutumn 1187 . 

..... ar.. Mclennen, .......... On•lo • ..,._ 1187. 

Mil. HUih Mcflhell, .............. an.rlo, ..,._ 1187. 

Mr ...... Mielde, ............... Ont.lo,eutulllft 1187. 

Mrs.~ Mor1111M, T.......,wtlll, Onwlo,......, 1187. 

Mr ........ Mont.n, Tuppervllll, On~ • ......, 1187 • 

.... .,....... O'flyM, Will lit ... Onwlo, .......... 1187. 

Mr. GeofWI Reid, C....... Gen. K•t County, On-.rlo, IUfiiii'Wt' 

1187. 

Mrs. 0 1ndolyn llld, w.r'nlt"''. Onterlo,IUfiiiMI' 1187. 

Mr. a Mil. Gordon a-t, ChatNm Gore,Kif'lt County, Onwio, 
......................... 7 ... 

Mr. Heny .....,., Cheltwn Gen. K•t County, On-.rlo, .,tumn 
1187, 

Mrs. Herold ~tower, Sombre, On~ • ....,.., 1187. 

Mrs. CIW Suthertend, Wllleclburt. Onwrlo, .,tumn 1M7. 

Mrs. y.,. Suther~Md, W.lleceburg. Onwlo, eutumn 1187. 

Mrs. Her11¥ Teylor, Welleclburt, an-to. •tumn 1187. 

Mrs. a--r Thornton, Welleclburt. Onwto, ••urnn 1187. 

Mrs. Mey Wide, C'*'-" Gcn,Kif'lt County, Onwlo, .,tumn 1187. 

Mrs. Wllll81'1'1 Welch, Dover townlhlp, Klf'lt County, Onwlo, .,cumn 
1117. 

Mr. W111181'1'1 Yount. Welleclbutl. OnWio,IU"'"* 1117. 
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